การเหนี่ยวนำให้เกิดออโต้ฟาจีโดยเลปโตสไปราสายพันธุ์ก่อโรคในแมคโครฟาจของ มนุษย์และหนูไมซ์

นางสาวฉัตรทิพย์ ศรีปทุมทอง

วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาจุลชีววิทยาทางการแพทย์ (สหสาขาวิชา) บัณฑิตวิทยาลัย จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2554 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

บทคัดย่อและแฟ้มข้อมูลฉบับเต็มของวิทยานิพนธ์ตั้งแต่ปีการศึกษา 2554 ที่ให้บริการในคลังปัญญาจุฬาฯ (CUIR) เป็นแฟ้มข้อมูลของนิสิตเจ้าของวิทยานิพนธ์ที่ส่งผ่านทางบัณฑิตวิทยาลัย

The abstract and full text of theses from the academic year 2011 in Chulalongkorn University Intellectual Repository(CUIR) are the thesis authors' files submitted through the Graduate School.

AUTOPHAGY INDUCTION BY PATHOGENIC *LEPTOSPIRA* IN HUMAN AND MURINE MACROPHAGES

Miss Chattip Sripatumtong

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science Program in Medical Microbiology (Interdisciplinary Program) Graduate School Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2011 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University

Thesis Title	AUTOPHAGY INDUCTION BY PATHOGENIC LEPTOSPIRA IN
	HUMAN AND MURINE MACROPHAGES
Ву	Miss Chattip Sripatumtong
Field of Study	Medical Microbiology
Thesis Advisor	Assistant Professor Kanitha Patarakul, M.D., Ph.D.
Thesis Co-advisor	Associate Professor Tanapat Palaga, Ph.D.

Accepted by the Graduate School, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Master's Degree

..... Dean of the Graduate School

(Associate Professor Pornpote Piumsomboon, Ph.D.)

THESIS COMMITTEE

..... Chairman

(Associate Professor Ariya Chindamporn, Ph.D.)

...... Thesis Advisor

(Assistant Professor Kanitha Patarakul, M.D., Ph.D.)

...... Thesis Co-advisor

(Associate Professor Tanapat Palaga, Ph.D.)

..... External Examiner

(Assistant Professor Chanwit Tribuddharat, M.D., Ph.D.)

นางสาว ฉัตรทิพย์ ศรีปทุมทอง : การเหนี่ยวนำให้เกิดออโต้ฟาจิโดยเลปโตสไปรา สายพันธุ์ก่อโรคในแมคโครฟาจของมนุษย์และหนูไมซ์. (AUTOPHAGY INDUCTION BY PATHOGENIC *LEPTOSPIRA* IN HUMAN AND MURINE MACROPHAGES) อ. ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์หลัก : ผศ.คร.พญ. กนิษฐา ภัทรกุล, อ. ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์ร่วม : รศ.คร.ธนาภัทร ปาลกะ, 79 หน้า.

้โรคเลปโตสไปโรซิสเป็นโรคที่ระบาคจากสัตว์สู่คนสามารถพบได้ทั่วโลก สาเหตุเกิค ในมนุษย์เชื้อสามารถทำให้เกิดพยาธิสภาพใน จากการติคเชื้อเลปโตสไปราสายพันธุ์ก่อโรค หลายระบบและอาจเกิดอาการที่รุนแรงจนทำให้เสียชีวิตได้ แต่ในสัตว์รังโรคมักไม่ทำให้เกิด พยาธิสภาพและไม่แสดงอาการ ปัจจุบันยังไม่ทราบกลไกของความแตกต่างนี้ การศึกษานี้มี ้งคมุ่งหมายเพื่อศึกษาและเปรียบเทียบการเกิดออโต้ฟาจีโดยเชื้อเลปโตสไปราในแมคโครฟาจ ้งองหนูไมซ์และของมนุษย์ โดยใช้เชื้อเลปโตสไปราซีโรวาร์ Pomona และเซลล์ไลน์แมกโคร ฟาจ RAW264.7 ของหนูไมซ์และเซลล์ไลน์โมโนไซต์ THP-1 ของมนุษย์ ผลการตรวจหาการ เกิดออโต้ฟาจีโดยดูการเปลี่ยนแปลงของ LC-3II ซึ่งใช้เป็นเครื่องหมายติดตามการเกิดออโต้ฟา ้จีโดยวิธี Western blot พบว่าทั้งแมคโครฟาจของมนุษย์และหนูไมซ์ที่ติคเชื้อเลปโตสไปรา สามารถกระตุ้นให้เกิดออโต้ฟาจีได้ แต่รูปแบบของ LC3-II นั้นมีความแตกต่างกันขึ้นกับ ้ปริมาณและระยะเวลาในการติคเชื้อ ในการศึกษาโคยใช้กล้องจุลทรรศน์อิเลกตรอนพบว่าใน แมคโครฟาจของหนูไมซ์เชื้อเลปโตสไปราอยู่ภายในถุงหุ้มสองชั้นซึ่งเป็นลักษณะจำเพาะของ ออโต้ฟาโกโซม ส่วนในแมคโครฟาจของมนุษย์พบเชื้อเลปโตสไปราในถุงหุ้มชั้นเดียวและอยู่ ในไซโตพลาสซึม เมื่อศึกษาด้วยกล้องกอนโฟกอลในชั่วโมงที่ 8 ภายหลังการติดเชื้อพบว่าเชื้อ เลปโตสไปราไม่อยู่ในไลโซโซมของแมคโครฟาจของมนุษย์ซึ่งแตกต่างจากของหนูไมซ์ การ ใช้สาร 3-methyladenine เพื่อยับยั้งกระบวนเกิดออโต้ฟาจีแสดงให้เห็นว่ากระบวนเกิดออโต้ฟา ้จือาจเกี่ยวข้องกับการกำจัคเชื้อเลปโตสไปราในแมคโครฟาจของหนูไมซ์ แต่ไม่ได้เป็นกลไก หลักในการกำจัดเชื้อในแมคโครฟาจของมนุษย์ นอกจากนี้ยังพบว่าการเกิดออโต้ฟาจีในแมค โครฟาจของหนูไมซ์หลังติคเชื้อเลปโตสไปราอาจผ่านทาง TLR4 คังนั้น กระบวนการเกิด ้ออโต้ฟาจีที่แตกต่างกันในแมคโครฟาจของหนูไมซ์และของมนุษย์อาจเป็นกลไกหนึ่งที่ทำให้ เชื้อเลปโตสไปราก่อโรคได้แตกต่างกันในสัตว์รังโรคและมนุษย์

สาขาวิชา <u>จุลชีววิทยาทางการแพทย์</u>	_ถายมือชื่อนิสิต
ปีการศึกษา <u>2554</u>	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์หลัก
	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์ร่วม

5287128720 : MAJOR MEDICAL MICROBIOLOGY

KEYWORDS : Pathogenic *Leptospira* / Autophagy / Human macrophages / Murine macrophages

CHATTIP SRIPATUMTONG : AUTOPHAGY INDUCTION BY PATHOGENIC LEPTOSPIRA IN HUMAN AND MURINE MACROPHAGES. ADVISOR : ASST. PROF. KANITHA PATARAKUL, M.D., Ph.D., CO-ADVISOR : ASSOC. PROF. TANAPAT PALAGA, Ph.D., 79 pp.

Leptospirosis is a zoonotic disease with a worldwide distribution, caused by pathogenic Leptospira species. Pathogenic leptospires may evoke severe systemic infection in humans but only cause mild chronic disease or asymptomatic carrier state in several animals. The reasons for this difference in infection and related natural defense mechanisms remain unclear. In this study, we aimed to study autophagy induction by pathogenic Leptospira in murine and human macrophages. L. interrogans serovar Pomona was used to infect RAW264.7 murine macrophage cell line and THP-1 human monocytic cell line. Autophagy formation in murine and human macrophages was detected as the appearance of autophagic markers, LC3-II, in Western blot. Furthermore, the leptospires in the murine macrophages were observed under transmission electron microscopy to be located within double membrane vesicles, which is the characteristic of autophagosomes. Leptospires in human macrophages, however, were found in the single membrane compartment and/or in the cytosol. In addition, in contrast to murine macrophages, colocalization of leptospires with lysosome was not observed by confocal microscopy in human macrophages at 8 hour post infection. Treatment with an autophagy inhibitor, 3methyladenine, the autophagy process seemed to participate in the killing of pathogenic Leptospira in murine macrophages but was not the major mechanism in the clearance of pathogenic Leptospira in human macrophages. Furthermore, TLR4 may contribute to autophagy after pathogenic Leptospira infection in murine macrophages. Therefore, the distinct autophagic process between human and murine cells may explain the nature of infection in different hosts of Leptospira.

Field of Study : Medical Microbiology	Student's Signature
Academic Year : 2011	Advisor's Signature
	Co-advisor's Signature

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere appreciation and gratitude to the following whose gave me the possibility to complete my thesis.

Assistant Professor Dr. Kanitha Patarakul my thesis advisor at the Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University, for her guidance, constructive criticism, kindness and strong encouragement throughout the course of this study.

Associate Professor Dr. Tanapat Palaga my thesis co-advisor at the Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Science, Chulalongkorn University, for his advice, constructive criticism, general suggestion and discussion throughout the course of this study.

Sincere thanks and appreciation are extended to the members of my thesis committee, for their kindness, constructive criticism, and helpful suggestion for completeness of this thesis.

Associate Professor Dr. Ariya Chindamporn, Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University.

Assistant Professor Dr. Chanwit Tribuddharat, Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Medicine Siriraj Hospital, Mahidol University.

My special thanks to all members in Leptospirosis Laboratory, Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University, all member in Chula VRC (Chula vaccine research center) at the University of Chulalongkorn, and all members in Immunology Laboratory 403, Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Science, Chulalongkorn University, for generosity and facilities in laboratory.

Many thanks to all staff and personnel in the Department of microbiology, Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University, for providing of facilities needed.

I am deeply indebted to my family and my best friend, Miss Ruthairat Kerdkaew for their support, patience, cheerfulness, encouragement, and understanding.

Finally, I am grateful to Graduate School, Chulalongkorn University, for giving me opportunity to be a part this program.

CONTENTS

	PAGE
ABSTRACT (THAI)	iv
ABSTRACT (ENGLISH)	V
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	vi
CONTENTS	vii
LIST OF TABLES	х
LIST OF FIGURES	xi
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xiii
CHAPTER	
I INTRODUCTION	1
II OBJECTIVES	6
III REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURES	7
Leptospira and leptospirosis	7
Characteristic of Leptospira	7
Cultivation method	9
Molecular biology	10
Taxonomy and classification	11
Serological classification	11
Genotypic classification	12
Epidemiology	14
Clinical features of leptospirosis	16
Anicteric form	16
Icterohaemorrhagic form	17
Laboratory diagnosis	18
Microscopic demonstration	18
Cultivation	18
Molecular diagnosis	19

PAGE

	Serological diagnosis	19
	Pathogenesis	20
	Autophagy	21
	Introduction	21
	Autophagic Pathway	21
	Autophagy activation	22
	Methods for detection of Autophagy	23
	Electron Microscopy	24
	Fluorescence Microscopy	25
	Biochemical Assays	25
	Autophagy and Immunity	26
IV	MATERIALS AND METHODS	28
	Bacterial cultivation	30
	Cell lines and media	30
	Western blot	31
	Infection of macrophages with <i>Leptospira</i>	33
	Determination of <i>Leptospira</i> survival	33
	Determination of co-localization of Leptospira and LC3II by confocal	
	microscopy	34
	Determination of ultrastructural alterations with transmission electron	
	microscopy	34
	Toll-like receptor signaling in macrophage links to the autophagy	
	pathway	35
	Statistical analysis	35
V	· RESULTS	36
	Detection of LC3-II in murine and human macrophages infected with	
	pathogenic <i>Leptospira</i>	36

CHAPTER

viii

CHAPTER

	Visualization of autophagosome in pathogenic Leptospira-infected murine	
	and human macrophages by transmission electron microscopy (TEM)	40
	Determination of location of pathogenic Leptospira in murine and human	
	macrophages by confocal microscopy	42
	Viability of pathogenic <i>Leptospira</i> in murine and human macrophages	44
	Toll-like receptor-related autophagy in murine macrophages	47
VI	DISCUSSION	50
VII	SUMMARY	53
REI	FERENCES	54
API	PENDICES	71
BIC)GRAPHY	79

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE		PAGE
1	Serogroups and serovars of <i>L. interrogans</i> sensu lato	13

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE		PAGE
1	Intracellular localization of pathogenic Leptospira in human and	4
	murine macrophages	
2.	Scanning electron micrograph of <i>L. interrogans</i> bound to a 0.2µm	7
	membrane filter	
3	Structure of leptospiral cell wall	8
4	The schematic shows Leptospires and spirochetes structure	9
5	Comparative genomics of <i>Leptospira</i> spp	11
6	Serological classification of <i>Leptospira</i> spp	12
7	Epidemiology of leptospirosis	15
8	Reported cases of leptospirosis in Thailand from 1990 to 2010	16
9	The symptoms of leptospirosis	17
10	The molecular machinery of macroautophagy	22
11	The regulators of autophagy and cellular accumulation of different	
	autophagic structures	23
12	Morphology of autophagosome (double-membraned structure), and	
	Autolysosome	24
13	The conversion of LC3-I (cytosolic form) to LC3-II (membrane-	
	bound lipidated forms) by	26
	immunoblotting	
14	Detection of LC3-II conversion in pathogenic Leptospira-infected	
	RAW264.7 cells and THP-1 cells	40
15	Ultrastructural alterations of pathogenic Leptospira-infected	
	RAW264.7 and THP-1 cells	42
16	Co-localization of pathogenic Leptospira in the cytoplasms of	
	RAW264.7 and THP-1 cells	44

FIGURE

PAGE

17	The effects of 3-MA and rapamycin on the viability of pathogenic	
	Leptospira in RAW264.7 cells and THP-1 cells	47
18	TLR4-induced LC3-II conversion in pathogenic Leptospira-infected	
	RAW264.7 cells	49

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

APS	Ammonium peroxodisulfate
Вр	Base pair
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
°C	Degree Celsius
$C_3H_3NaO_3$	Sodium pyruvate
$C_8H_7N_3O_2$	3-Aminophthalhydrazide, 5-amino-2,3-dihydro-1,4-
	phthalazinedione
$C_{24}H_{39}O_4Na$	Sodium deoxycholate
CaCl ₂	Calcium chloride
CH ₃ COONa	Sodium acetate
CuSO ₄	Copper sulfate
DAPI	4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified eagle medium
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
dNTPs	Deoxynucleotide triphosphates
DTT	Dithiothreitol
EDTA	Ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid
EMJH	Johnson and Harris modification of the Ellinghausen and
	McCullough medium
et al.	et alii
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FeSO4	Ferrous sulfate
g	Gram
h	Hour
H_2O_2	Hydrogen peroxide
H_2SO_4	Sulfuric acid

HCI	Hydrochloric acid
$C_{18}H_{26}CIN_3O^{\cdot}H_2SO_4$	Hydroxychloroquine sulfate
HEPES	4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid
HOC ₆ H ₄ CH=CHCO ₂ H	trans-4-Hydroxycinnamic acid
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
IgG	Immunoglobulin G
IFA	Immunofluorecent assay
IPTG	Isopropyl-D-thiogalactopyranoside
KCI	Potassium chloride
kDa	Kilodalton
$KH_2 PO_4$	Potassium dihydrogen phosphate
LB	Luria-Bertani
LC-3	Microtubule-associated protein light chain 3
LipL32	Leptospira lipoprotein 32 kDa
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
MAT	Microscopic agglutination test
MgCl ₂	Magnesium chloride
ml	Milliliter
mM	Milimolar
MOI	Multiplicity of infection
MTT	3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium
	bromide
MW	Molecular weight
NaCl	Sodium chloride
Na ₂ CO ₃	Disodium carbonate
NaHCO ₃	Sodium carbonate
Na ₂ HPO ₄	Disodium hydrogen phosphate
NaOH	Sodium hydroxide
Na ₂ SO ₄	Sodium sulfate

ng	Nanogram
NH ₂ CH ₂ COOH	Glycine
NP-40	Tergitol-type NP-40
OMP	Outer membrane protein
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
p.i.	post infection
РМА	phorbol-12-myristate-13-acetate
Raw264.7	Murine macrophage-like cell line
RPMI	RPMI1640 medium
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulfate
SDS-PAGE	SDS- polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
TAE	Tris-acetate buffer
TBS	Triethanolamine-buffered-saline
TEM	Transmission electron microscopy
TEMED	N,N,N,N,-Tetramethylethylenediamine
THP-1	Human monocytic cell line
Tween 20	Polysorbate 20
Tween 80	Polysorbate 80
hð	Microgram
μΙ	Microliter
ZnSO ₄	Zinc Sulfate

CHAPTER I

Leptospirosis is the most widespread zoonosis in the world [1]. Leptospires are spirochete bacteria, including pathogenic and saprophytic species comprising the genus Leptospira, which belongs to the family Leptospiraceae [2, 3]. Leptospires are helically coiled spirochetes that are about 0.1 µm in diameter and 6-20 µm in length, and the wavelength is approximately 0.5 µm [2, 4]. Leptospires are thin, highly motile, obligately aerobic spirochetes that share features of both Gram-positive and Gramnegative bacteria [3, 5, 6]. Leptospiral lipopolysaccharide (LPS) is similar to LPS from Gram-negative bacteria but with less endotoxic activity [7]. Leptospires have distinctive hooked ends. Two periplasmic flagella with polar insertions are located in the periplasmic space and responsible for motility [8]. Since these bacteria are poorly Gram stained, the leptospires are best visualized by dark-field or phase-contrast microscope. They grow in simple media enriched with vitamins B1 and B12, long chain fatty acid, and ammonium salt [9]. Leptospires can be stained by carbon fuchsin counterstain [4, 10]. They produce both catalase and oxidase. The optimal growth condition of leptospires is at pH 6.8-7.4 and at temperature between 28°C-30°C [11-14]. They are initially separated into two groups; Leptospira interrogans sensu lato (pathogenic species) and L. biflexa sensu lato (saprophytic species) [4, 15, 16]. L. interrogans have been classified into more than 260 serovars, whereas over 60 serovars of *L. biflexa* have been reported [4, 17]. Conventional serological typing based on immunodominant surface-exposed epitopes of the LPS and more recent genotyping based on DNA relatedness demonstrated by genomic DNA-DNA hybridization are used to categorized Leptospira spp. into serovars and genospecies, respectively [7].

Leptospirosis is believed to be the most widespread zoonosis in the world. It can be transmitted, in humans, by direct or indirect contact with urine of an infected animal. In most tropical areas, leptospirosis is seasonal with peak incidence occurring in summer (February to March) and during rainy seasons (August to September) [4, 8, 18]. In tropical countries, farming activities, contact with animals (rats, other rodents, and livestock), poor waste disposal, rainfall, and floods are mostly related to infection [19-21]. The sources of infection are soil or water contaminated with infected urine of maintenance hosts or accidental (incidental) hosts. The disease is maintained in nature by asymptomatic reservoir hosts [8]. Reservoir hosts can be domestic and wild animals such as rat, rodents, pigs, cattle and dogs [4, 22]. Rat and other rodents are the most important sources for human infection. Leptospires enter the body through mucous membrane and skin cuts or abrasions by contact with urine of infected animals [4, 23]. Leptospira can spread into the bloodstream and target organs such as kidneys, liver, heart, causing inflammation of various organs. The disease can cause non-specific symptoms such as fever, chills, headache, severe myalgia, conjunctival suffusion, anorexia, nausea, vomiting and prostration [4, 24]. Severe leptospirosis may manifest as jaundice, acute renal failure, pulmonary haemorrhage syndrome, myocarditis, or meningitis with mortality rate up to 50% [4, 25, 26]. The mechanisms by which leptospires cause disease are not well understood [4]. Leptospires and their lipoprotein extracts stimulated monocytes leading to intracellular signaling such as p38 phosphorylation, NF-kB activation, and release of IFN- γ and nitric oxide [27, 28]. LPS of leptospires stimulated mouse macrophages by Toll-like receptor 2 (TLR2) and TLR4 [29] but in human macrophages, LPS of leptospires stimulated by TLR2 instead of TLR4 [30]. However, the humoral immunity is the primary protective immune response against Leptospira [31]. LPS extract lacking endotoxic activity have been shown to stimulate innate immunity, induce a serovar-specific antibody, and induce protective immunity in rabbits, guinea pigs, mice, hamsters and dogs [32-36]. Many bacteria have evolved mechanisms to invade eukaryotic cells and survive intracellularly [37, 38]. After cell invasion, bacteria use a variety of mechanisms to evade degradation. For example, Listeria monocytogenes, Rickettsia, and Shigella, were demonstrated to be able to lyse the vacuole and enter the cytoplasm [39, 40]. However, some intracellular pathogens reside within vacuoles that mature through the endocytic pathway and are modified to

prevent lysosomal fusion and acquisition of hydrolytic enzymes [38], but some bacteria can be destroyed by a process called autophagy.

Autophagy is the process of physiologically and immunologically controlled intracellular pathway that sequesters and degrades cytoplasmic targets including macromolecular aggregates, lipids and nucleotides from damaged proteins, cellular organelles, and intracellular pathogens such as viruses, bacteria, and protozoans [41-43]. There are three types of autophagy that occur in a cell, macroautophagy, microautophagy, and chaperone-mediated autophagy [41]. Macroautophagy, more commonly known as autophagy, is important for degrading protein aggregates [41], and clearing intracellular pathogens [44]. Autophagy can also be activated by other physiological stress stimuli (e.g., energy depletion, endoplasmic reticulum stress, high temperature, and high cell-density conditions), hormonal stimulation, pharmacological agents (e.g., rapamycin and other compounds discussed below), innate immune signals, and in diseases such as bacterial, viral, and parasitic infections [45-47].

Macroautophagy is the conserved pathway from yeast to mammals, and is mediated by a special organelle termed the autophagosome. Upon induction, a small vesicular sac called the isolation membrane and subsequently encloses a portion of cytoplasm, which results in the formation of a double-membrane structure, the autophagosome. Then, the outer membrane of the autophagosome fuses with a lysosome (autolysosome), leading to the degradation of the enclosed materials together with the inner autophagosomal membrane. The endosome can also fuse with the autophagosome before fusion with the lysosome. Amino acids and other small molecules that are generated by autophagic degradation are delivered back to the cytoplasm for recycling or energy production [42, 45, 48-50].

The process of a double-membrane structure or the autophagosome formation involves two major steps: initiation step or nucleation step, and elongation step of the isolation membrane [45]. Initiation step or nucleation step, called the phagophore (isolation membrane), which expands through the assembly of the multimer complex of Atg lipid (Atg8-phosphatidylethanolamine); known as LC3-II) [51], and protein-protein conjugates (Atg12-Atg5, complexed with Atg16) [52]. The Atg12-Atg5/Atg16 and Atg8 (LC3)-PE conjugation systems are important for the elongation step [52]. Elongation step (growth of isolation membrane and its closure to generate a double membrane autophagosome). Maturation step of the double-membrane autophagosome into autophagosome-lysosomal fusion (called the autolysosome), lysosomal digestion, and lysosomal acidification. The regulatory signals that integrate environmental cues with the autophagic machinery are involved in autophagy [45]. The activated form of LC3, LC3-II, binds to isolation membranes (phagophores) and autophagosomes, and can be used as a specific marker for autophagy [45, 53, 54].

Previous study reported distinct fates of pathogenic *Leptospira* within macrophages of human or mouse origin [55]. It was demonstrated that pathogenic *Leptospira* had similar ability to adhere to and enter primary and immortal macrophages from human and mouse, THP-1 and J774A.1, respectively. However, their intracellular fate in human macrophages differed markedly from that in mouse macrophages. The leptospires resided within membrane-bound vacuoles in the murine macrophages, whereas they lived freely in the cytosol of human macrophages, with no surrounding vesicular membrane (Figure 1).



Figure 1.Intracellular localization of pathogenic *Leptospira* in human and murinemacrophages [55].

In contrast to human macrophages (THP-1), murine macrophages (J774A.1) contained pathogenic *Leptospira* in a structure similar to autophagosome as observed by transmission electron microscopy. However, autophagy induction in macrophages by *Leptospira* has never been studied. Therefore, this study aimed to determine whether infection with pathogenic *Leptospira* can differently induce autophagy in human and murine macrophages.

CHAPTER II OBJECTIVES

Hypothesis

Pathogenic *Leptospira* induces autophagy differently in infected human and murine macrophages

Objectives

- 1. To study autophagy induction by pathogenic *Leptospira* in infected human and murine macrophages
- 2. To study the role of TLR4 in autophagy induction in pathogenic *Leptospira*infected murine macrophages

CHAPTER III REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURES

Leptospira and Leptospirosis

Characteristic of Leptospira

Leptospira are spirochete bacteria, dividing into pathogenic species (*L. interrogans*), which can cause disease in humans and some animals, and saprophytic (*L. biflexa*) species, which are free-living organisms found in water and soil [4, 15, 16]. Genus *Leptospira* belongs to the family Leptospiraceae [2, 3]. Leptospires are helically coiled spirochetes that are about 0.1 μ m in diameter and 6-20 μ m in length, and the wavelength is approximately 0.5 μ m (Figure 2) [2, 4]. Leptospires are thin, highly motile, aerobic spirochete whose membrane shares features of Gram-positive and Gramnegative bacteria [3, 5, 6]. The spirochetes have pointed end of which one or both ends are usually hook or question mark-shaped ends [3, 4]. Since these bacteria are poorly Gram stained, the leptospires are best visualized under dark-field or phase-contrast microscope. Leptospires can be stained by carbon fuchsin counterstain [4, 10]. They produce both catalase and oxidase.



Figure 2. Scanning electron micrograph of *L. interrogans* bound to a 0.2µm membrane filter [4].

Leptospires have a typical double-membrane structure containing the outer membrane (OM) and inner membrane (IM) [6, 56]. The inner membrane (IM) is closely associated with the peptidoglycan (PG) cell wall, which is overlaid by the outer membrane (OM) [56]. The outer membrane is composed of phospholipids, outer membrane proteins (OMPs) and lipopolysaccharide (LPS), which is the major antigen of *Leptospira* (Figure 3). LPS of leptospires has a lower endotoxic potential compared with that of other Gram-negative bacteria [57-59]. The periplasmic space contains two axial filaments or periplasmic flagella with polar insertion, which are responsible for the shape and motility of leptospires (Figure 4) [60, 61]. Leptospires show two forms of movement, translational and non-translational movement [4].



Figure 3. Structure of leptospiral cell wall containing the outer membrane (OM), periplasm, peptidoglycan (PG), and inner membrane (IM) [62].



Figure 4. The schematic shows *Leptospires* and spirochetes structure. Cross section view indicates position of flagella, outer membrane and spiral cylinder of spirochete [63].

Cultivation Method

Leptospira is an obligately aerobic bacterium that requires carbon and energy during *in vitro* growth. Ellinghausen-McCullough-Johnson-Harris (EMJH) medium is commonly used medium for leptospires. The culture medium is supplied with 10% rabbit serum or 0.2-1% bovine serum, vitamin B12, long chain fatty acids, ammonium salt, and sodium pyruvate [4, 8, 64]. Long-chain fatty acids obtained from polysorbate (Tween 80) are carbon and energy sources which are metabolized by the beta-oxidation pathway [65, 66]. Growth factors of leptospires are vitamin B1 and B12 [65, 67].

The optimal growth condition of leptospires is at pH 6.8-7.4 and at temperature between 28°C-30°C [11-14]. The minimal growth temperature of pathogenic and saprophytic leptospires is at 13-15°C and 5-10 °C, respectively. The ability of pathogenic leptospires to grow at 13°C can be used to differentiate pathogenic from

saprophytic leptospires [68, 69]. Growth of leptospires is generally slow on primary isolation, and cultures are retained for up to 13 weeks before being discarded whereas pure subculture in liquid media usually grows within 10 to 14 days to reach log phase. Leptospires are maintained in semisolid media, containing 0.1-0.2 % agar. Its growth reaches a maximum density in a discrete zone beneath the surface of the medium, which is known as a Dinger's ring or disk [4]. The maintenance of stock cultures can be achieved by repeated subculture or storage in liquid nitrogen for long-term preservation to maintain its virulence and give good yields [4, 70]. Colony morphology of leptospires on solid agar is dependent on agar concentration and serovars [71, 72]. The solid media have been used for isolation of leptospires from mixed cultures, on which hemolysin production can be detected [4, 10].

Molecular biology

The leptospiral genome is approximately 5,000 kb [73, 74]. The genome is comprised of two circular chromosomes, a 4,400-kb and a smaller 350-kb chromosome [74, 75]. The chromosome of *Leptospira* is characterized by a G+C content of 35–41 mol% [2]. Leptospiral genome contains two sets of 16S rRNA and 23S rRNA genes and one set of 5S rRNA gene [76, 77]. Previous studies comparing whole genome sequences of 2 pathogenic and one saprophytic species has identified 2,052 genes (61% of whole genome) common to all (Figure 5) [2, 78]. Comparative genomics of *L. interrogens* and *L. biflexa* showed that 627 genes are unique to *L. interrogens* and are absent in *L. biflexa* and over 500 of these genes (80%) encode hypothetical proteins [2]. These findings support the idea of a common origin for leptospiral pathogenic strains and saprophytic strain [78].



Figure 5. Comparative genomics of *Leptospira* spp. [2]

Taxonomy and classification

The genus *Leptospira* was divided into two major species, *L. interrogans* and *L. biflexa*. *L. interrogans* are pathogenic strains, whereas *L. biflexa* are saprophytic strains isolated from the environment [2, 4]. The genus *Leptospira* belongs to the kingdom Monera, phylum Spirochetes, class Spirochetes, order Spirochetales, family Leptospiraceae [4, 79].

Serological classification

The pathogenic leptospires (*L. interrogans*) and non-pathogenic, free-living organisms found in water and soil (*L. biflexa*) are divided into various serovars based on cross-agglutinin adsorption test (CAAT) with homologous, serovar-specific antibodies [4, 80, 81]. Leptospiral strains are commonly referred to serovar. *L. interrogans* have been currently classified into more than 250 serovars, whereas there are over 60

serovars of *L. biflexa* (Figure 6) [4, 17]. The examples of serogroups and serovars of *L. interrogans* are shown in table 1



Figure 6. Serological classification of *Leptospira* spp. [17]

Genotypic classification

The phenotypic classification has currently been replaced by genotypic classification [82, 83]. The genotypic classification of the *Leptospira* is based on at least 70% DNA-relatedness whose related DNA sequences contain no more than 5% unpaired bases [7, 83, 84]. However, genotypic classification is not corresponding to serological classification since some serovars are found in more than one species of *Leptospira* and vice versa [4].

Serogroup	Serovar(s)
Icterohaemorrhagiae	Icterohaemorrhagiae, Copenhageni, Lai,
	Zimbabwe
Hebdomadis	Hebdomadis, Jules, Kremastos
Autumnalis	Autumnalis, Fortbragg, Bim, Weerasinghe
Pyrogenes	Pyrogenes
Bataviae	Bataviae
Grippotyphosa	Grippotyphosa, Canalzonae, Ratnapura
Canicola	Canicola
Australis	Australis, Bratislava, Lora
Pomona	Pomona
Javanica	Javanica
Sejroe	Sejroe, Saxkoebing, Hardjo
Panama	Panama, Mangus
Cynopteri	Cynopteri
Djasiman	Djasiman
Sarmin	Sarmin
Mini	Mini, Georgia
Tarassovi	Tarassovi
Ballum	Ballum, Aroborea
Celledoni	Celledoni
Louisiana	Louisiana, Lanka
Ranarum	Ranarum
Manhao	Manhao
Shermani	Shermani
Hurstbridge	Hurstbridge

Modified from [4]

Epidemiology

Leptospirosis is the most widespread zoonosis in the world [1]. It can be transmitted to humans by direct or indirect contact with urine of infected animals. The incidence of leptospirosis in tropical or subtropical areas is significantly higher than that of temperate regions [4] due mainly to the ability of leptospires to live in the warm environment longer than in the temperate environment. However, in most tropical areas leptospirosis is seasonal, with peak incidence occurring in summer and during rainy seasons occurring during August to September and February to March [4, 8, 18].

The sources of infection are soil or water contaminated with infected urine of maintenance hosts or accidental (incidental) hosts. The disease is maintained in nature by asymptomatic reservoir hosts [8]. Reservoir hosts can be domestic or wild animals such as rodents, small marsupials, pigs, cattle and dogs [4, 22]. Rat and other rodents are the most important sources for human infection. Leptospires enter the body through mucous membrane and skin cuts or abrasions by contact with urine of infected animals (Figure 7) [4, 23].



Domestic animals

Figure 7. Epidemiology of leptospirosis. Pathogenic *Leptospira* are shedded into urine of reservoir hosts. Infection in human most commonly occurs from direct contact with infected urine or indirect contact with contaminated soil or water [85].

Leptospirosis is an increasingly recognized cause of unspecified febrile illnesses in Southeast Asia including Indonesia, Lao and Vietnam [86]. In Thailand, leptospirosis is an emerging infectious disease that was first reported in 1942 (8, 7 (M)). The number of cases was 859 per 5 years between 1990 and 1995, Data from the disease notification reports indicates a drastically increased from 385 cases in 1996 to 2,334 cases in 1997, and a report of outbreak of 14,285 cases in 2000. Since then there are reports of cases Thailand as shown in Figure 8 and Thailand especially in the Northeastern part is considered to be an endemic area of leptospirosis [87].



Figure 8. Reported cases of leptospirosis in Thailand from 1990 to 2010 [87].

Clinical features of leptospirosis

Clinical features of leptospirosis are diverse ranging from subclinical infection to fever, chills, headache, severe syndrome of multiorgan failure with high mortality rate [4, 8, 18, 24]. Two forms of leptospirosis have been described, which are anicteric leptospirosis and icterohaemorrhagic leptospirosis or Weil's disease [15].

Anicteric form

The great majority of leptospirosis is anicteric leptospirosis. Symptoms include chills, headache, myalgia, abdominal pain, conjunctival suffusion, and less often a skin rash [88]. If present, the rash is typically transient or present temporary for less than 24 hours. This anicteric syndrome usually lasts about a week, and the resolution corresponds to the development of antibodies. The differential diagnosis must include influenza [89], HIV seroconversion [90] and, in the tropics, dengue fever [91-93].

Icterohaemorrhagic form or Weil's disease

Icterohaemorrhagic leptospirosis or Weil's disease is a much more severe form of the illness and often rapidly progresses. It is described as jaundice, renal failure, and haemorrhage of target organs. The icterohaemorrhagic form contributes to the high mortality rate, which ranges between 5 and 15% [4, 8, 94]. Weil's disease represents between 5 and 10% of all patients with leptospirosis [94]. It is a common cause of the acute renal failure (ARF), which occurs in 16-40 % of cases [95-98]. The occurrence of pulmonary symptoms is one of major causes of death in leptospirosis [26, 99-101]. It is presented with a ranging of symptoms, such as cough, dyspnea, hemoptysis to respiratory distress syndrome in adults [102-110]. Cardiac involvement is common but may be underestimated. A mortality rate of 54% was reported in severe leptospirosis cases with myocarditis [111, 112]. Ocular involvements of severe leptospirosis were noted in early reports [4]. Conjunctival suffusion is seen in the major complaints of patients with leptospirosis [113]. Uveitis may present weeks, months, or occasionally years after the acute stage of infection (Figure 9) [114, 115].



Figure 9. The symptoms of leptospirosis are multisystemic involvement such as uveitis, meningitis, myocarditis, pulmonary haemorrhage syndrome, hepatic dysfunction, and renal dysfunction [3].

Laboratory diagnosis

The laboratory diagnosis is very important, because the clinical symptoms are not specific in both humans and animals.

Microscopic demonstration

Leptospires can be seen under dark-field microscopy. The samples such as, blood, urine, cerebrospinal fluid, or peritoneal dialysis fluid was used. Minimal number of leptospires that is necessary for observation by dark-field microscope is about 10⁴ cells/ml. Immunofluorescence staining and immunoperoxidase staining has been applied to increase sensitivity of direct microscopic examination. The leptospires can be detected in histophatological tissue stained with silver staining or immunohistochemical staining [116, 117].

Cultivation

Cultures isolated from clinical specimens, such as serum, blood, and, cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) in 7-10 days of infection. After the first week until about 30 days of the disease, leptospires may be isolated from urine, fluid in the eyes, and kidneys. The sample culture was considered as the gold standard for diagnosis. However, culture is not used as a routine test for diagnosis, since the growth rate of leptospires is slow [4, 118, 119].

Molecular diagnosis

DNA of leptospires can be detected in blood, cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), urine, and aqueous humor by polymerase chain reaction (PCR). The PCR is a method with high sensitivity and has been reported to detect at its earliest stages. Various primer pairs for detection by PCR of leptospires have been designed to target at the 16S rRNA or 23S rRNA genes, pathogenic *Leptospira*-specific genes such as *lipL32*, and the repetitive sequences [76, 120]. Recently, a real-time PCR is demonstrated as the rapid detection method of pathogenic leptospires [121]. The limitation of PCR is an expensive and a requirement of high skill [122-132].

Serological diagnosis

Serological methods aim to determine the level of antibody in serum typically about 5-7 days after the patient begins to show symptoms. The microscopic agglutination test (MAT) is currently the standard method for diagnosis of leptospirosis. It uses live leptospires as antigens to react with antibodies in serum. The standard criteria for positive MAT are four-fold increase of antibody titers of paired sera or a conversion from seronegativity to a titer of 100 or more. The MAT is read under dark-field microscope and result interpretation is complicated [4, 8, 133-137]. In addition, detection of antibodies against leptospires can be done in several ways, such as ELISA [138-143], complement fixation test [133], macroscopic slide agglutination [144-146], latex agglutination [147-150], dipstick ELISA [151-153] and immunofluorescence [154, 155].

Pathogenesis

The primary step of infection is bacterial adherence to host cells and then replication and dissemination to target organs. Moreover, the interactions trigger host innate and adaptive immunity. Therefore, host-pathogen interactions may be crucial for pathogenesis and outcome of infection [156]. In leptospirosis, after pathogenic leptospires enter a host, they spread via bloodstream. Although, their reproductive rate is slightly slower than some other pathogens, leptospires may be able to produce a larger number within a few days. Leptospires are non-pyrogenic bacteria, since their presence does not cause strong inflammation. They do not localize at the point of infection, so entry site does not become inflamed [4, 8]. However, understanding of mechanisms of leptospirosis is limited. Several putative virulence factors have been described, but most of their functions remain unknown.

It is generally accepted that the initial interaction between microbe and host cell is an important step for many infectious disease [157]. Comparison study of colonization of fibroblasts and macrophages by high and low-virulent *Leptospira* strains found that both strains adhere to fibroblasts and macrophages using one or both ends of spirochete, followed by phagocytosis of both strains. Both strains adhered to macrophages more strongly than fibroblasts. The more virulent strain could invade host cell nucleus, while the lower virulent strain remained in phagosome [158]. Genomic sequencing revealed that *L. interrogans* contains several genes that are related to attachment to and invasion of eukaryotic cells [159]. The function of these leptospiral proteins required elucidation. An understanding of mechanism by which *L. interrogans* attaches and invades mammalian cell would be a great step forward in knowledge of pathogenesis of leptospirosis [159, 160].

Autophagy

Introduction

Autophagy is the process of physiologically and immunologically controlled intracellular pathway that sequesters and degrades cytoplasmic targets including macromolecular aggregates, lipids, and nucleotides from damaged proteins, cellular organelles, and intracellular pathogens such as viruses, bacteria, and protozoans [41-43]. There are three types of autophagy that occur in a cell, macroautophagy, microautophagy, and chaperone-mediated autophagy [41]. Macroautophagy, more commonly known as autophagy, is important for degrading protein aggregates [41], and clearing intracellular pathogens [44]. Macroautophagy is conserved in mammals, and is mediated by a special organelle termed the autophagosome [45].

Autophagic Pathway

Autophagy is a general process by which cytoplasmic materials including organelles and lysosomes used for degradation [45, 161]. The process of autophagy involves a set of evolutionarily conserved gene products, known as Atg proteins including Atg 5, 7, 10, and 12, which are required for the formation of isolation membrane and autophagosome [45, 51]. The process of a double-membrane structure or the autophagosome formation composes of two major steps: initiation step or nucleation step, and elongation step of the isolation membrane [45]. Initiation step or nucleation step, is the formation of the phagophore or isolation membrane, which expands through the assembly of the multimer complex of Atg lipid [51] (Atg8-PE; known as LC3-II), and protein-protein conjugates (Atg12-Atg5 in complex with Atg16) (Figure 10) [52]. The Atg12-Atg5/Atg16 and Atg8 (LC3)-PE conjugation systems are important for the elongation step [52]. Elongation step is the growth of isolation membrane and its closure to generate a double membrane structure called autophagosome. Maturation step is the transition of the double-membrane
autophagosome into autophagosome-lysosomal fusion (called the autolysosome), followed by lysosomal digestion, and lysosomal acidification [45]. The contents of the autolysosome are released into the cytoplasm of the cell, where they are reused in many cellular processes.



I. Initiation II. Elongation III. Maturation

Figure 10. The molecular machinery of macroautophagy [52].

Autophagy activation

Autophagy is induced in mammalian cells by stress, cell damage, and amino acid starvation [41, 162]. The mammalian cells-target of rapamycin protein (mTOR), is a phosphotidylinositol-3' kinases (PI3K)-related kinase that signals cell health and promotes cell division [163]. Inhibition of mTOR by rapamycin simulates amino acid starvation under nutrient depleted conditions there by inducing autophagy [164]. Assembly of the autolysosome is disrupted by the PI3K inhibitors, wortmannin [165], and 3-methyladenine (3MA) [166]. Both wortmannin and 3MA act by inhibiting type III PI3K, cytosolic enzymes required for the early stages of autophagosome development (Figure 11) [167]. Loss of the proton gradient mutes the degradative activity of the autolysosome and prevents additional lysosomes from fusing with the organelle [168].



Figure 11.The regulators of autophagy and cellular accumulation of differentautophagic structures [45].

Methods for detection of autophagy

Three principal methods are presently used to monitor of the autophagosomes, including electron microscopy, light microscopy detection of the subcellular localization of LC3, and biochemical detection of the membrane-associated form of LC3.

Electron Microscopy

The conventional method is to observe a double-membrane structure defined as an autophagosome at the ultrastructural level by electron microscopy (Figure 12) [45]. In the past, electron microscopy has been used extensively to quantify the number of autophagosomes in a variety of cells and tissues. Basically, the number or area within autophagosomes is quantified from an unbiased sampling of grids and images. The disadvantage of electron microscopy is its long procedure and requirement of experience. However, the advantage is that autophagosomes can be unequivocally identified based on their morphology as well as by the presence of specific markers in the membrane [45, 52].



Figure 12.Morphology of Autophagosome (double-membrane structure), andAutolysosome [45].

Fluorescence Microscopy

The assessment of autophagosome number by electron microscopy requires considerably specialized expertise, and is becoming increasingly replaced by light microscopy and biochemical methods that are more widely accessible to researchers in different fields. As noted above, the mammalian autophagy protein, LC3, is a marker of autophagosomes [45, 48]. Atg8 is the only specific marker for autophagosomes found so far which remains bound after the closure of the sequestering isolation membrane. Mammalian cells contain several homologs, LC3 [169], GABARAP and GATE16 [170], all of which have been shown to bind to the membrane of autophagosomes. Of these three proteins, LC3 [171], has been investigated the most. Pro-LC3 gets cleaved at the position after a highly conserved glycine residue in the C-terminus by the protease Atg4 [172] to give rise to the cytosolic form LC3-I. Upon induction of autophagy LC3-I is modified in a ubiquitin-like process, which involves Atg7 and Atg3 and the attachment of a lipid residue, presumably phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) to the C-terminal glycine residue [173, 174], in an Atg5–Atg12-dependent manner [175]. The resulting form, LC3-II, binds to isolation membranes (phagophores) and autophagosomes, and can be used as a specific marker for autophagy.

Biochemical Assays

In addition to its utility in fluorescence microscopy assays, LC3 is also useful in biochemical assays to assess autophagosome numbers. The conversion from endogenous LC3-I to LC3-II can be detected by immunoblotting with antibodies against LC3 in Western blots. Although the actual molecular weight (MW) of LC3-II (a PE-conjugated form) is larger than that of LC3-I, LC3-II (apparent MW is 14 kD) migrates faster than LC3-I (apparent MW is 16 kD) in sodium dodecylsulfate–polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS–PAGE) because of extreme hydrophobicity of LC3-II (Figure 13) [45, 176]. The amount of LC3-II usually correlates well with the number of autophagosomes.



Figure 13. The conversion of LC3-I (cytosolic form) to LC3-II (membrane-bound lipidated form) by immunoblotting [45, 174].

Autophagy and Immunity

One of the most important functions of autophagy appears to be its role in the host defense against cellular pathogens [177]. In general, bacterial pathogens enter the cell via an endocytosis pathway, enclosed within a vesicle called a phagosome that ultimately fuses with and is degraded by the lysosome [177]. In contrast, it has recently been shown that certain bacteria undermine the autophagic machinery to promote their replication and survival [178, 179]. This evasion is accomplished in different ways by different bacteria. In the case of Listeria monocytogenes, Shigella and certain other bacteria, the microbes induces lysis of the phagosome, causing their release into the cytoplasm and enabling them to replicate in that environment [180, 181]. Other invasive bacteria including Mycobacterium tuberculosis modify the phagosome in which they are contained, to prevent fusion with the lysosome [182]. Still other pathogens such as Legionella pneumophila induce the autophagic pathway and within autophagosome [183]. In organisms such as L. pneumophila, replicates induction of autophagy enhances the replication and survival of the invading bacteria [184].

From these recent discoveries, it is now clear that autophagy can aid in defense against pathogens, but microbes can also employ this pathway to promote their viability. This is similar to the role of autophagy in cancer and other diseases – depending on the

progression of the disease, autophagy may be a protective mechanism, eliminating damaged organelles or even damaged cells, or it may have harmful effects by causing cell death or in the case of cancer by promoting the survival of tumor cells under limiting nutrient conditions [185, 186]. These varying effects of autophagy only serve to emphasize the importance of being able to control the activity of this degradative pathway, if it is ever to be used therapeutically.

Investigations of autophagy will aid in our understanding of this important process, and hopefully lead to treatments for the human conditions and diseases in which autophagy is implicated.

CHAPTER IV

MATERIALS AND METHODS



Experimental Flow Chart



Bacterial cultivation

Leptospira

Leptospira interrogans serovas Pomona was obtained from Khon Kaen University. *Leptospira* was cultivated in Ellinghausen-McCullough-Johnson-Harris (EMJH) media at 29°C for approximately 7 days until cell density reached approximately 1x10⁸ cells/ml which was counted with a Petroff-Hausser counting chamber under dark-field microscopy. Low-passaged *L. interrogans* serovas Pomona, which was subcultured not more than five passages *in vitro*, was used in the study to prevent the loss of virulence of leptospires.

Cell lines and media

The murine macrophage-like cell line (RAW264.7: ATCC No. TIB-71) and the human monocytic cell line (THP-1: ATCC No. TIB-202) were cultured in DMEM (Invitrogen, USA) and RPMI1640 medium (Invitrogen, USA), supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Invitrogen, USA), 100 U/ml penicillin (Invitrogen, USA), 100 μ g/ml streptomycin (Invitrogen, USA), 1% sodium pyruvate (Invitrogen, USA) and 1% HEPES (Invitrogen, USA), respectively at 37 °C in humidified 5% CO₂ incubator (Sanyo, Japan). To differentiate cells into macrophages, THP-1 cells were treated with 10 ng/ml phorbol-12-myristate-13-acetate (PMA) for 24 hours before each experiment.

Cell preservation and storage

Freezing media were prepared by adding 10% DMSO (Calbiochem, Germany) to DMEM or RPMI-1640 complete media. After collecting cells by centrifugation (1,500 rpm for 5 minutes), 5x10⁶ cells were resuspended in 1 ml of cold freezing media and stored in cryogenic vial (Corning, Mexico). The cells were immediately stored at -80 °C overnight before long term storage in liquid nitrogen.

Before use frozen cells in cryogenic vials obtained from liquid nitrogen were thawed in 37 °C water bath (Memmert, Germany). Cell suspensions were added to 9 ml serum-free media and centrifuged at 1,500 rpm for 5 minutes. Freezing media was removed followed by adding DMEM or RPMI-1640 complete media.

Western blot

Protein extraction

Cells infected with *L. interrogans* serovar Pomona were washed twice in PBS and then lysed in RIPA buffer [50mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl, 1.0% NP-40, 0.5% $C_{24}H_{39}O_4Na$, 0.1% SDS, and protease inhibitor was added (Roche Diagnostics, Sweden)]. Cells were incubated on ice for 5 minutes, transferred to tube on ice and centrifuged at 8,000xg for 10 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant containing soluble proteins was carefully transferred to a tube on ice and stored at -80°C for future analysis.

SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)

The samples were heated at 95°C for 10 minutes. Heated samples and prestained molecular weight markers (Fermentas, Canada) were loaded to the gels. The samples were separated at 100 volt for at least 90 minutes in Western blot running buffer (25 mM Tris base, 190 mM glycine, 0.1% SDS) using Mini-PROTEAN[®] system (BioRad, USA).

Protein transfer

After separation process, the gels were equilibrated in transfer buffer (48 mM Tris pH 9.2, 39 mM glycine, 1.3 mM SDS, 20% methanol) for 5 minutes. Polyvinylidene fluoride membranes (PVDF; Millipore, Germany) were soaked in absolute methanol (Burdick & Jackson, Korea) and rinsed with deionized water twice and immersed in transfer buffer. Proteins on the gel were transferred to PVDF membranes using a semidry transfer Trans-Blot[®] SD (BioRad, USA) apparatus at 150 mA for 90 minutes.

Antibody probing

After protein transfer, the PVDF membranes were blocked in blocking solution (1X Tris buffered saline (TBS) + 3 % skim milk) at room temperature for 1 hour followed by washing 3 times, 10 minutes each with washing buffer (1X TBS + 0.1% Tween 20). After blocking, the PVDF membranes were incubated with 1:5,000 dilution of rabbit anti-LC3-II (Sigma aldrich, USA) and 1:5,000 dilution of moues anti ß-actin (Merck, Germany) at 4°C overnight. The probed membranes were further incubated on a rocker for 1 hour at room temperature. The primary antibody solution was discarded, and the membrane was washed 3 times with 1X TBS + 0.1% Tween 20 for 10 minutes each. After washing buffer was discarded, 1:5,000 dilution of donkey anti rabbit IgG (GE) and 1:5,000 dilution of goat anti-mouse IgG (KPL, USA) conjugated with horseradish peroxidase (HRP) were added. The PVDF membranes were incubated for 1 hour with rocking before washing 3 times with 1X TBS + 0.1% Tween 20 for 10 minutes each.

Signal detection by chemiluminescence and autoradiography

The signal was detected by ECL detection system (company) according to manufacturer's instructions. The mixture of solution A and B was poured directly onto the membranes and incubated for 1 minute. The membranes were wrapped with the plastic wrap and placed in a film cassette (Life Technologies_™, USA) to expose to High Performance Chemiluminescence Film: Amersham Hyperfilm[™] ECL (Amersham Biosciences, England) in the dark. Exposure time for LC3II and ß-actin was 15-30 minutes and 5-10 seconds, respectively. The film was developed for 5-10 seconds in x-ray film developer, washed with tap water, fixed for 3-5 minutes in the fixer and finally washed with tap water before air dry.

Infection of macrophages with Leptospira

Freshly cultured *L. interrogans* serovar Pomona in EMJH liquid medium were counted by dark-field microscopy with a Petroff-Hausser counting chamber. The RAW264.7 cells and the THP-1 were cultured in DMEM and RPMI1640 medium, respectively. After pre-incubation, the cells were washed 3 times with Phosphate buffered saline (PBS; 137mM NaCl, 2.7mM KCl, 10mM Na₂HPO₄ • 2 H₂O and 2mM KH₂PO₄). The leptospires were incubated with RAW264.7 and THP-1 at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 10, 20, and 100 (10, 20, and 100 leptospires per host cell) for 1, 2, 4, 8 and 24 hours. Then, cells were washed twice in PBS and lysed in RIPA buffer. After centrifugation at 8,000xg for 10 minutes at 4°C, proteins of infected cells were analyzed using 12% SDS-PAGE and Western blot analyses as described above.

Determination of Leptospira survival

Enumeration of leptospires in macrophages

The tested RAW264.7 and THP-1 cells (3x10⁵) were infected with *L. interrogans* serovar Pomona at MOI of 1:100 at 37°C for 1 hour and treated with gentamicin at a final concentration of 50 µg/ml to kill the remaining extracellular leptospires. Then, the cell samples were treated with 200nM of rapamycin or 5mM of 3-methyladenine (3-MA), which is a stimulator and inhibitor of autophagy, respectively. After incubation for 1 or 8 hours, the cells were lysed with ice-cold PBS containing 0.05% sodium deoxycholate (Sigma, USA). The lysates were centrifuged at 1,500xg for 2 minutes to remove large cell debris. The supernatant was centrifuged at 15,000xg at 4°C for 10 minutes to precipitate the leptospires. The leptospiral pellets were inoculated in EMJH media and then incubated at 29 °C for 4 weeks. Viable leptospires were counted under dark-field microscopy with a Petroff-Hausser counting chamber.

Determination of co-localization of Leptospira and lysosome by confocal microscopy

RAW264.7 and THP-1 cells (3x10⁵) were seeded on a glass coverslip each well in 24-well plates and then infected with *L. interrogans* at MOI of 1:100 at 37°C for 1 hour, then the cells were incubated for 1 hour or 8 hours, and fixed with acetone at 30 °C for 5 minutes before washing three times in 2xPBS, and then permeabilized with cold methanol at -20°C for 10 minutes before washing three times in 2xPBS. The cell samples were primarily labeled with 1:500 diluted mouse antiserum against *L. interrogans* serovar Pomona, 1:200 rabbit LAMP-2a (Abcam, Englang) at 30 °C for 1 hour before washing three times in 2xPBS, the samples were secondarily labeled with 1:60 fluorescein isothiocynate (FITC)-conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG (Sigma, USA), 1:2000 diluted Alexa Fluor[®] 555-conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG (H+L), F(ab)₂ (Cell Signaling Technology, USA) at 30°C for 1 hour before washing three times in 2xPBS. Finally, the samples were stained with 1:1,000 dilution of 4', 6-Diamidino-2-phenylindole dihydrochloride (DAPI; Sigma aldrich, USA) at 30°C for 5 minutes. The prepared cells were mounted with mounting medium, and then examined under a confocal microscope (Olympus).

Determination of ultrastructural alterations with transmission electron microscopy

After the RAW264.7 and THP-1 cells were infected with *L. interrogans* at 37°C for 1 hour, the cultures were washed 3 times with PBS and then 50 µg/ml of gentamicin. Then, the cells collected at 4 hour only were fixed with 3% glutaradehyde in 0.1M phosphate buffer, pH 7.3, at 4°C for 2 hours, then washed 3 times for 10 minutes each with 0.1M phosphate buffer before postfixing in 1% osmium tetroxide 0.1M phosphate buffer, pH 7.3, at room temperature for 1 hour. Next, the cells were washed twice for 5 minutes each with distilled water and dehydrated sequentially with 50% alcohol, 70% alcohol, 85% alcohol and absolute alcohol. Cells were embedded in Epon, cut with a diamond knife, and collected on 100 mesh nickel grids. The cell sections were

observed under transmission electron microscopy (TEM) to visualize the leptospires and autophagosomes in macrophages.

Toll-like receptor signaling in macrophage links the autophagy pathway

RAW264.7 and THP-1 cells $(3x10^5)$ were seeded on glass coverslips each well in 24-well plates and treated with 5 µg/ml of rabbit anti-TLR 4, or 5 µg/ml of rabbit IgG (control) at 37°C for 1 hour, then infected with *L. interrogans* at MOI of 1:100 at 37°C for 1 hour. After 1 hour or 8 hours incubation, the cultures were washed twice with PBS and centrifuged at 1,500xg for 5 minutes at 4°C and then analyzed using 12% SDS-PAGE and Western blot as described earlier.

Statistical analysis

Results are expressed as means \pm SD. The one-way ANOVA analysis of variance with Tukey–Kramer's post-hoc test was used to determine the statistical significance for all pairwise multiple-comparison procedures. A P-value of *p*<0.05 was considered as statistical significance. Data were analyzed and plotted as graphs using GraphPad Prism software.

CHAPTER V RESULTS

Autophagy in human and murine macrophages induced by pathogenic *Leptospira* was investigated and compared in this study

Detection of LC3II in murine and human macrophages infected with pathogenic Leptospira

To test if pathogenic Leptospira infection induced autophagy in murine macrophages (RAW264.7) and human macrophages (THP-1), we examined microtubule-associated protein light-chain 3 (LC3), an essential component and a well characterized marker of the autophagy system. There are two forms of LC3, which can be differentiated by their mobility on SDS-PAGE. LC3-II is directly conjugated to phosphatidylethanolamine on the membrane of forming autophagosomes and has a faster electrophoretic mobility than that of unconjugated LC3-I, which is localized in the It has been shown that LC3-II formation is corresponding to an increase in cytosol. autophagy [1]. Following infection of RAW264.7 and THP-1 cells with pathogenic Leptospira at different multiplicity of infection (MOI), the conjugated LC3-II form was significantly higher than that of uninfected cell control at 1, 2, 4, 8, and 24 hours post infection (p.i.) (Figure 14A, 14B, 14D, 14E, 14G, 14H; lane 2-6). At MOI of 1:10, the fold increase of LC3-II in THP-1 cells was significantly higher than that of RAW264.7 cells at 1 hour p.i. but was less than that of RAW264.7 cells at 24 hours p.i. (Figure 14A, 14B, and, 14C). At MOI 1:20, the increment of LC3-II in THP-1 cells was significantly higher than that of RAW264.7 cells at 8 and 24 hours p.i. (Figure 14D, 14E, and, 14F). However, after 1, 4, and 8 hours of leptospiral infection at MOI 1:100, LC3-II in RAW264.7 cells was increased at a significantly higher level than that in THP-1 cells (Figure 14G, 14H, and, 141). These findings suggest that pathogenic Leptospira can induce autophagy in both murine and human macrophages with different kinetic patterns. In response to rapamycin treatment, an autophagy inducer, a strong signal of LC3-II was observed indicating autophagosome formation (lane 7 of Figure 14A, 14B, 14D, 14E, 14G, 14H) and therefore was served as a positive control. Notably, rapamycin was able to induce LC3-II in THP-1 cells better than that in RAW264.7 cells.







Figure 14. Detection of LC3-II conversion in pathogenic *Leptospira*-infected RAW264.7 cells (A, D, H) and THP-1 cells (B, E, H). RAW264.7 and THP-1 cells were infected with pathogenic *Leptospira* at MOI of 1:10 (A-C), 1:20 (D-F), and 1:100 (G-I), or treated with 200 nM rapamycin (control) for 4 hour. The extracellular bacteria were killed with gentamycin. At 1, 2, 4, 8 and 24 hour post infection, infected cells were collected for analyses by Western blot to detect autophagic markers. The result was reported as fold increase of LC3-II intensity of each sample (lane 2-6) in comparison with LC3-II in uninfected cell control (lane 1) as shown in the bottom line (Figure 14A, 14B, 14D, 14E, 14G, 14H) and bar graphs (Figure 14C, 14F, 14I); open bars represent fold increase in RAW264.7 cells, solid bars represent fold increase in THP-1 cells, **P* value < 0.05, pathogenic *Leptospira*-infected THP-1 cells in comparison with uninfected cell control; and H *P* value < 0.05, pathogenic *Leptospira*-infected THP-1 cells in comparison with uninfected cell control; and H *P* value < 0.05, pathogenic *Leptospira*-infected THP-1 cells in comparison with uninfected cell control; and H *P* value < 0.05, pathogenic *Leptospira*-infected THP-1 cells in comparison with uninfected cell control; and H *P* value < 0.05, pathogenic *Leptospira*-infected THP-1 cells in comparison with uninfected cell control; and H *P* value < 0.05, pathogenic *Leptospira*-infected THP-1 cells.

Visualization of autophagosome in pathogenic *Leptospira*-infected murine and human macrophages by transmission electron microscopy (TEM)

The formation of pathogenic *Leptospira*-associated autophagosome, whose characteristics is a double-membrane vesicle, in RAW264.7 and THP-1 cells were observed under TEM. The double-membrane compartment containing pathogenic *Leptospira* was found at MOI of 100 for 4 hours p.i. in RAW264.7 cells (Figure 15A). However, the leptospires resided within a single-membrane vacuole (Figure 15B) or lived freely and multiplied in the cytosol, with no surrounding vesicular membrane (Figure 15C) in THP-1 cells at 4 hours p.i. This finding suggests that double-membrane autophagosomes are formed after pathogenic *Leptospira* infection in RAW264.7 cells. However, leptospires were associated with single-membrane compartment or evade out the vesicle into the cytosol in THP-1 cells.



Figure 15. Ultrastructural alterations of pathogenic *Leptospira*-infected RAW264.7 (A) and THP-1 cells (B and C). RAW264.7 and THP-1 cells were infected with pathogenic *Leptospira* at MOI of 100 for 1 hour. The extracellular bacteria were killed with gentamycin. At 4 hour post infection, infected cells were collected for TEM examination. (A) RAW264.7 cell contained pathogenic *Leptospira* within a double-membrane vesicle at 4 hours p.i. The enlarged pictures in 'b' and 'c' were derived from the square of 'a'. The arrow indicates spiral-shaped pathogenic *Leptospira* while the triangle indicates double-membrane formation. (B and C) shows the location of pathogenic *Leptospira* in THP-1 cells at 4 hours. The enlarged pictures in 'b' and 'c' were derived from the square of 'a'. (B) shows leptospires resided within a single-membrane vacuole. (C) shows dividing leptospires lived freely in the cytosol.

Determination of location of pathogenic *Leptospira* in murine and human macrophages by confocal microscopy

RAW264.7 and THP-1 cells were incubated with pathogenic leptospires at MOI of 100 for 1 and 8 hours. Infected cells were treated with anti-*Leptospira* antibody, DAPI, and anti-LAMP2a antibody, which stained pathogenic leptospires, nucleus, and lysosome, respectively before visualization under confocal microscopy to determine co-localization of pathogenic *Leptospira* with lysosome in RAW264.7 cells (Figure 16A) and THP-1 cells (Figure 16B). Pathogenic *Leptospira* were found to reside in the cytoplasm of RAW264.7 and THP-1 cells. Co-localization of pathogenic *Leptospira* with lysosomes in the RAW264.7 cells was observed at 1 hour and 8 hours p.i. but was not detected in THP-1 cells at 8 hour p.i. (Figure 16A, B). This result suggests that pathogenic *Leptospira* were associated with lysosomes, possibly autophagolysosome, in murine macrophages at least up to 8 hours of infection. However, leptospires may be able to dissociate or escape from lysosome-containing compartment including autophagolysosome before 8 hours of infection.





Figure 16. Co-localization of pathogenic *Leptospira* in the cytoplasm of RAW264.7 (A) and THP-1 cells (B). RAW264.7 and THP-1 cells were infected with pathogenic *Leptospira* at MOI of 100. The extracellular leptospires were killed by gentamycin. At 1 hour and 8 hours post infection, the infected RAW264.7 and THP-1 cells were stained with anti-*Leptospira* and anti-LAMP2a antibodies and DAPI. The arrow indicates the location of lysosome and pathogenic *Leptospira* in RAW264.7 and THP-1 cells.

Viability of pathogenic Leptospira in murine and human macrophages

3-methyladenine (3-MA), an autophagy inhibitor, and rapamycin, an autophagy stimulator, were used to evaluate their effect on autophagy formation and viability of pathogenic *Leptospira* in macrophages. In RAW264.7 cells, more viable pathogenic *Leptospira* were observed after treatment with 3-MA at 1 and 8 hours p.i. (Figure 17A-D). On the contrary, rapamycin reduced the survival of pathogenic *Leptospira* after treatment at 1 and 8 hours p.i. However, in the human macrophage cell line (THP-1), the clearance of pathogenic *Leptospira* was not affected by 3-MA treatment, but was enhanced by rapamycin (Figure 17E-H). The observation suggests that autophagy process seems to participate in the killing of pathogenic *Leptospira* in murine macrophages but is not the major mechanism in the clearance of pathogenic *Leptospira* in murine in human macrophages than in murine macrophages.





Figure 17. The effects of 3-MA and rapamycin on the viability of pathogenic *Leptospira* in RAW264.7 cells (A-D) and THP-1 cells (E-H). RAW264.7 and THP-1 cells were infected with pathogenic *Leptospira* at MOI of 100 for 1 hour. After infection and gentamycin treatment, infected RAW264.7 and THP-1 cells were then treated with *Leptospira* alone, 5 mM 3-MA or 200 nM rapamycin with complete media. The internal pathogenic *Leptospira* was quantitated after lysis of the macrophages at 1 and 8 hours post infection and followed their growth in EMJH by counting viable leptospires every 2 weeks. The recovered viable pathogenic *Leptospira* were reported as bacteria survival (cell/ml) at 4 week culture. * *P* value < 0.05.

Toll-like receptor-related autophagy in murine macrophages

Toll-like receptor signaling was determined whether it was associated with autophagosome formation. Since 3-MA had the effect on autophagy formation only in murine macrophages in earlier study (Figure 17), only RAW264.7 cells were used in this experiment. Anti-TLR4 antibody was used to block TLR4, before cells were infected with pathogenic *Leptospira* and then autophagy process was determined by detection of LC3-II. Previous incubation with anti-TLR4 was shown to reduce LC3-II at 1 and 8 hour p.i. (Figure 18A and 18 B, lane 4), when compared with untreated cells (Figure 18A and 18 B, lane 4). In addition, anti-rabbit IgG, a mock control, had no effect on LC3-II (Figure 18A and 18B, lane 5). These finding suggests that TLR4 may contribute to the occurrence of autophagy after pathogenic *Leptospira* infection in murine macrophages.



Figure 18 TLR4-induced LC3-II conversion in pathogenic *Leptospira*-infected RAW264.7 cells (A-B). RAW264.7 were incubated with 5 μ g/ml of rabbit anti-TLR 4 antibody, or 5 μ g/ml of rabbit IgG (control) for 1 hour, and then infected with pathogenic *Leptospira* at MOI of 100 for 1 hour. The extracellular bacteria were killed with gentamycin. At 1 hour or 8 hours post infection, infected cells were collected for analyses by Western blot to detect autophagic markers. The result was reported as fold increase of LC3-II intensity in comparison with uninfected cell control (lane 1) as shown in the bottom line (A and B) and bar graphs (C). **P* value < 0.05

CHAPTER VI DISCUSSIONS

Autophagy has been found to be a crucial component of innate cellular immune responses against not only intracellular but also extracellular microorganisms [1-3]. After phagocytosis of microorganism, autophagosomes are formed to degrade the ingested bacterium by the lysosomal killing mechanism. However, intracellular bacteria including *Legionella pneumophila*, *Listeria monocytogenes*, and *Mycobacterium* have developed different mechanisms to evade the autophagic cellular surveillance in macrophages [4-6]. Although the double membrane-bound compartments bearing autophagic markers were induced, its maturation into autolysosomes was shown to be arrested or delayed. Evasion of the autophagy by microorganism favors its own replication and survival in the host [7, 8].

Pathogenic leptospires have been considered to be extracellular pathogens. However, previous studies showed that pathogenic leptospires may temporary reside within host cells such as Vero cells [9]. In this study pathogenic *Leptospira* was shown to induce LC3, which is an essential component and a well characterized marker of the autophagy system, in human and murine macrophages after brief contact, and subsequently entered the host cells. This finding suggested that pathogenic *Leptospira* infection may induce autophagy in both murine and human macrophages with different kinetic patterns. Different effects of leptospires on the level of LC3-II in either cell type may depend on various factors such as multiplicity of infection (MOI), time period of infection, and number of infected pathogenic *Leptospira* allowed into the cells. In addition, baseline level of LC3 was distinct between murine and human macrophages.

The entry into host cells, as for the pathogens such as Shigella, and Salmonella, is an essential step during infection [10]. Most intracellular bacteria enter into the host cells through a pathway in which phagocytic vesicles are formed [11, 12]. After that, the phagosomes fuse with lysosomes and the bacteria are killed by lysosomal hydrolases [11, 12]. Many intracellular bacteria, including Salmonella, Shigella, and L. monocytogenes, were shown to escape from the phagosomes into the cytosol, where they then replicated and survived [13]. In the present study, leptospires were shown by TEM to be located with double-membrane bound vesicles, a characteristic of autophagosome, in murine macrophages, whereas the leptospires were distributed in the single-membrane bound vacuoles, a characteristic of autophagolysosome, and/or in the cytosol of human macrophages (Figure 15B and C). This finding may be associated with better survival of leptospires in human macrophages than in murine macrophages. It is possible that in human macrophages pathogenic Leptospira are able to resist killing in autophagolysosome or escape out of the autophagosome into the cytosol prior to fusion with lysosomes. In addition, study on co-localization of pathogenic leptospires and lysosome under confocal microscopy found that in contrast to pathogenic Leptospira in murine macrophages, leptospires in human macrophages were dissociated from lysosomes at 8 hours p.i. (Figure 16). In addition, 3-MA treatment had lower effect on the clearance of pathogenic *Leptospira* in human macrophages than that in murine macrophages (Figure 17) possibly due to ability of leptospires to evade autophagosome in human macrophages. These findings support the idea that pathogenic leptospires may evade from autophagosome in human macrophages before fusion with lysosomes leading to their better survival in human macrophages than those in murine macrophages. Therefore, the fate of intracellular leptospires is different in murine and human macrophages, which may be helpful in understanding the difference in severity of leptospirosis between humans and mice.

In *E. coli*, LPS has been shown to specifically induce autophagy by signaling through TLR4 [14], and recent data indicate that signaling via any of the TLRs can induce autophagy [15, 16]. In the present study, we found that in RAW264.7 cells pathogenic *Leptospira* may induce autophagosome formation via TLR4 since anti-TLR4 was observed to reduce LC3-II level in murine macrophages at 1 and 8 hour p.i. by Western blot analysis. These data suggest that pathogenic *Leptospira* infection may induce autophagos via TLR4.

CHAPTER VII SUMMARY

The aim of this study is to determine autophagy induction by pathogenic Leptospira in infected human and murine macrophages. Pathogenic Leptospira were shown to be able to induce autophagy in both murine macrophages and human macrophages. LC3-II was induced in murine and human macrophages with different kinetic patterns depending on multiplicity of infection and time period of infection. Double-membrane autophagosomes were observed under transmission electron microscope in the murine macrophages after infected with pathogenic Leptospira. However, leptospires were associated with single membrane compartment or evaded into the cytosol in human macrophages. This finding was consistent with the result shown in co-localization study by confocal microscopy that pathogenic leptospires was dissociated from lysosomes at 8 hours post infection in human macrophages. The survival of pathogenic Leptospira after an autophagy inhibitor, 3-MA, treatment in murine macrophages suggests that autophagosome formation seems to participate in the clearance of pathogenic Leptospira in murine macrophages. However, autophagosome was not a major mechanism in the clearance of pathogenic Leptospira in human macrophages. In addition, TLR4 may contribute to induction of autophagy after pathogenic Leptospira infection in murine macrophages. It is possible that pathogenic leptospires are able to evade into the cytosol of human macrophages prior to fusion with lysosomes leading to better survival in the cells. This finding may explain the difference in pathogenicity of leptospires in different hosts.

Further investigations are required to confirm the evasion of pathogenic leptospires from autophagosomes in human macrophages and identify their virulence factors responsible for this mechanism.

REFFRENCES

- P. Bovet, *et al.* Factors associated with clinical leptospirosis: a population-based case-control study in the Seychelles (Indian Ocean). <u>Int J Epidemiol</u> 28 (1999): 583-590.
- B. Adler, A. de la Pena Moctezuma. *Leptospira* and leptospirosis. <u>Vet Microbiol</u> 140 (2010): 287-296.
- [3] A.I. Ko, et al. Leptospira: the dawn of the molecular genetics era for an emerging zoonotic pathogen. <u>Nat Rev Microbiol</u> 7 (2009): 736-747.
- [4] P.N. Levett. Leptospirosis. <u>Clin Microbiol Rev</u> 14 (2001): 296-326.
- [5] D.A. Haake. Spirochaetal lipoproteins and pathogenesis. <u>Microbiology</u> 146 (2000): 1491-1504.
- [6] D.A. Haake. Spirochaetal lipoproteins and pathogenesis. <u>Microbiology</u> 146 (Pt
 7) (2000): 1491-1504.
- [7] G.M. Cerqueira, M. Picardeau. A century of *Leptospira* strain typing. <u>Infect</u> <u>Genet Evol</u> 9 (2009): 760-768.
- [8] A.R. Bharti, *et al.* Leptospirosis: a zoonotic disease of global importance. <u>Lancet</u> <u>Infect Dis</u> 3 (2003): 757-771.
- [9] B. Adler, A. de la Pena Moctezuma. *Leptospira* and leptospirosis. <u>Vet Microbiol</u> (2009).
- [10] A.B. Faine S, Bolin C, Petrolat P, *Leptospira* and leptospirosis, Medisci, Melbourne, Australia, 1999.
- [11] H.C. Ellinghausen, Jr., W.G. McCullough. Nutrition of *Leptospira* Pomona and Growth of 13 Other Serotypes: Fractionation of Oleic Albumin Complex and a Medium of Bovine Albumin and Polysorbate 80. <u>Am J Vet Res</u> 26 (1965): 45-51.
- [12] H.C. Ellinghausen, Jr., W.G. McCullough. Nutrition of *Leptospira* Pomona and Growth of 13 Other Serotypes: A Serum-Free Medium Employing Oleic Albumin Complex. <u>Am J Vet Res</u> 26 (1965): 39-44.

- [13] R.C. Johnson, P. Rogers. Metabolism of leptospires. II. The action of 8azaguanine. <u>Can J Microbiol</u> 13 (1967): 1621-1629.
- [14] C.E. Smith, L.H. Turner. The effect of pH on the survival of leptospires in water.
 <u>Bull World Health Organ</u> 24 (1961): 35-43.
- [15] J.M. Vinetz, et al. Sporadic urban leptospirosis. <u>Ann Intern Med</u> 125 (1996): 794-798.
- [16] W.A. Ellis, *et al.* Morphological changes upon subculturing of freshly isolated strains of *Leptospira interrogans* serovar hardjo. <u>Zentralblatt fur</u> <u>Bakteriologie Mikrobiologie und Hygiene - Abt. 1 Orig. A</u> 255 (1983): 323-335.
- P. Vijayachari, *et al.* Leptospirosis: an emerging global public health problem. <u>J</u>
 <u>Biosci</u> 33 (2008): 557-569.
- [18] C.E. Langston, K.J. Heuter. Leptospirosis. A re-emerging zoonotic disease. <u>Vet</u> <u>Clin North Am Small Anim Pract</u> 33 (2003): 791-807.
- [19] P. Bhardwaj, et al. A case control study to explore the risk factors for acquisition of leptospirosis in Surat city, after flood. <u>Indian J Med Sci</u> 62 (2008): 431-438.
- [20] L. Kawaguchi, et al. Seroprevalence of leptospirosis and risk factor analysis in flood-prone rural areas in Lao PDR. <u>Am J Trop Med Hyg</u> 78 (2008): 957-961.
- [21] C. Lau, et al. Leptospirosis: an emerging disease in travellers. <u>Travel Med Infect</u> <u>Dis</u> 8: 33-39.
- [22] P.R. Epstein, et al. Climate and disease in Colombia. <u>Lancet</u> 346 (1995): 1243-1244.
- [23] S.R. Rathinam, et al. Uveitis associated with an epidemic outbreak of leptospirosis. <u>Am J Ophthalmol</u> 124 (1997): 71-79.
- [24] L.E. Nery, *et al.* Clinical, radiological and functional pulmonary manifestations in patients with leptospirosis. <u>Rev Inst Med Trop Sao Paulo</u> 19 (1977): 366-373.

- [25] C.M. Silverstein. Pulmonary manifestations of leptospirosis. <u>Radiology</u> 61 (1953): 327-334.
- [26] C. Yersin, et al. Pulmonary haemorrhage as a predominant cause of death in leptospirosis in Seychelles. <u>Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg</u> 94 (2000): 71-76.
- [27] M. Cinco, *et al.* Interaction of leptospires with murine microglial cells. <u>New</u> <u>Microbiol</u> 29 (2006): 193-199.
- [28] E. Blasi, et al. NF-kB activation and p38 phosphorilation in microglial cells infected with *Leptospira* or exposed to partially purified leptospiral lipoproteins. <u>Microb Pathog</u> 42 (2007): 80-87.
- [29] C. Werts, et al. Leptospiral lipopolysaccharide activates cells through a TLR2dependent mechanism. <u>Nat Immunol</u> 2 (2001): 346-352.
- [30] M.A. Nahori, *et al.* Differential TLR recognition of leptospiral lipid A and lipopolysaccharide in murine and human cells. <u>J Immunol</u> 175 (2005): 6022-6031.
- [31] B. Adler, S. Faine. Host immunological mechanisms in the resistance of mice to leptospiral infections. <u>Infect Immun</u> 17 (1977): 67-72.
- [32] S. Faine, *et al.* Chemical, serological and biological properties of a serotypespecific polysaccharide antigen in *Leptospira*. <u>Aust J Exp Biol Med Sci</u> 52 (1974): 311-319.
- [33] B.H. Jost, *et al.* Experimental immunisation of hamsters with lipopolysaccharide antigens of *Leptospira interrogans*. J Med Microbiol 29 (1989): 115-120.
- [34] B.H. Jost, *et al.* A monoclonal antibody reacting with a determinant on leptospiral lipopolysaccharide protects guinea pigs against leptospirosis.
 <u>J Med Microbiol</u> 22 (1986): 269-275.
- [35] A. Midwinter, et al. Vaccination of mice with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and LPSderived immuno-conjugates from *Leptospira interrogans*. <u>J Med</u> <u>Microbiol</u> 33 (1990): 199-204.

- [36] T. Masuzawa, et al. Immunochemical characteristics and localization on cells of protective antigen (PAg) prepared from *Leptospira interrogans* serovar lai. <u>Microbiol Immunol</u> 40 (1996): 237-241.
- [37] T. Hackstadt. Redirection of host vesicle trafficking pathways by intracellular parasites. <u>Traffic</u> 1 (2000): 93-99.
- [38] S. Meresse, et al. Controlling the maturation of pathogen-containing vacuoles: a matter of life and death. <u>Nat Cell Biol</u> 1 (1999): E183-188.
- [39] E. Gouin, et al. A comparative study of the actin-based motilities of the pathogenic bacteria Listeria monocytogenes, Shigella flexneri and Rickettsia conorii. J Cell Sci 112 (Pt 11) (1999): 1697-1708.
- [40] D.H. Meyer, et al. Microtubules are associated with intracellular movement and spread of the periodontopathogen Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans. Infect Immun 67 (1999): 6518-6525.
- [41] C.L. Liu, *et al.* Changes in autophagy after traumatic brain injury. <u>J Cereb Blood</u>
 <u>Flow Metab</u> 28 (2008): 674-683.
- [42] M. Delgado, et al. Autophagy and pattern recognition receptors in innate immunity. <u>Immunol Rev</u> 227 (2009): 189-202.
- [43] V. Deretic. Autophagosome and phagosome. <u>Methods Mol Biol</u> 445 (2008): 1-10.
- [44] M. Ogawa, C. Sasakawa. Bacterial evasion of the autophagic defense system.<u>Curr Opin Microbiol</u> 9 (2006): 62-68.
- [45] N. Mizushima, *et al.* Methods in mammalian autophagy research. <u>Cell</u> 140 (2010): 313-326.
- [46] M.A. Sanjuan, et al. Toll-like receptor signalling in macrophages links the autophagy pathway to phagocytosis. <u>Nature</u> 450 (2007): 1253-1257.
- [47] Y.H. Wang, *et al.* The autophagic induction in *Helicobacter pylori*-infected macrophage. <u>Exp Biol Med (Maywood)</u> 234 (2009): 171-180.
- [48] Y. Chen, *et al.* Methods for detecting autophagy and determining autophagyinduced cell death. <u>Can J Physiol Pharmacol</u> 88 (2010): 285-295.
- [49] V. Deretic. Autophagy in infection. <u>Curr Opin Cell Biol</u> 22 (2010): 252-262.
- [50] B.R. Dorn, *et al.* Bacterial interactions with the autophagic pathway. <u>Cell</u>
 <u>Microbiol</u> 4 (2002): 1-10.
- [51] Z. Xie, et al. Atg8 controls phagophore expansion during autophagosome formation. <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> 19 (2008): 3290-3298.
- [52] V. Deretic, B. Levine. Autophagy, immunity, and microbial adaptations. <u>Cell Host</u> <u>Microbe</u> 5 (2009): 527-549.
- [53] V.L. Crotzer, J.S. Blum. Autophagy and adaptive immunity. <u>Immunology</u> 131 (2010): 9-17.
- [54] Y. Xu, N.T. Eissa. Autophagy in innate and adaptive immunity. <u>Proc Am Thorac</u> <u>Soc</u> 7 (2010): 22-28.
- [55] S. Li, et al. Replication or death: distinct fates of pathogenic Leptospira strain Lai within macrophages of human or mouse origin. <u>Innate Immun</u> 16 (2010): 80-92.
- [56] P.A. Cullen, *et al.* Outer membrane proteins of pathogenic spirochetes. <u>FEMS</u> <u>Microbiol Rev</u> 28 (2004): 291-318.
- [57] T. Vinh, et al. Ultrastructure and chemical composition of lipopolysaccharide extracted from *Leptospira interrogans* serovar copenhageni. <u>J Gen</u> <u>Microbiol</u> 132 (Pt 1) (1986): 103-109.
- [58] T. Shimizu, et al. Biological activities of lipopolysaccharide-like substance (LLS) extracted from *Leptospira interrogans* serovar canicola strain Moulton. <u>Microbiol Immunol</u> 31 (1987): 727-735.
- [59] T. Vinh, et al. Glycolipoprotein cytotoxin from Leptospira interrogans serovar copenhageni. <u>J Gen Microbiol</u> 132 (Pt 1) (1986): 111-123.
- [60] A.A. Varpholomeeva, E.S. Stanislavsky. [Electron microscopy of *Leptospira* morphology]. <u>Ann Inst Pasteur (Paris)</u> 94 (1958): 361-366.
- [61] J.W. Czekalowski. Electron microscope study of *Leptospira*. <u>Antonie Van</u> <u>Leeuwenhoek</u> 29 (1963): 29-34.

- [62] T.R. Fraga, et al. Leptospirosis: Aspects of innate immunity, immunopathogenesis and immune evasion from the complement system. <u>Scand J Immunol</u> 73 (2011): 408-419.
- [63] P.R.M.M.A.P.K.S.R.P.R.M.K.S. Rosenthal, Medical microbiology The University of Texas Medical Branch at GalvestonGalveston, Texas, 1996.
- [64] L.S. Cruz, *et al.* Leptospirosis: a worldwide resurgent zoonosis and important cause of acute renal failure and death in developing nations. <u>Ethn Dis</u> 19 (2009): S1-37-41.
- [65] R.C. Henneberry, C.D. Cox. Beta-oxidation of fatty acids by *Leptospira*. <u>Can J</u> <u>Microbiol</u> 16 (1970): 41-45.
- [66] R.C. Johnson, *et al.* Cultivation of parasitic leptospires: effect of pyruvate. <u>Appl</u> <u>Microbiol</u> 26 (1973): 118-119.
- [67] R.C. Johnson, N.D. Gary. Nutrition of *Leptospira* Pomona. Ii. Fatty Acid Requirements. <u>J Bacteriol</u> 85 (1963): 976-982.
- [68] R.C. Johnson, P. Rogers. Differentiation of Pathogenic and SaprophyticLeptospires with 8-Azaguanine. <u>J Bacteriol</u> 88 (1964): 1618-1623.
- [69] R.C. Johnson, V.G. Harris. Differentiation of pathogenic and saprophyticletospires. I. Growth at low temperatures. <u>J Bacteriol</u> 94 (1967): 27-31.
- [70] B. Adler, A. de la Pena Moctezuma. *Leptospira* and leptospirosis. <u>Vet Microbiol</u> 140: 287-296.
- [71] E.E. Roth, *et al.* The use of agar plates as an aid for the isolation of leptospires.<u>Am J Vet Res</u> 22 (1961): 308-312.
- [72] D.N. Tripathy, *et al.* Growth of hebdomadis group of leptospires in solid medium.
 <u>Am J Vet Res</u> 41 (1980): 1153-1154.
- [73] C. Baril, I. Saint Girons. Sizing of the *Leptospira* genome by pulsed-field agarose gel electrophoresis. <u>FEMS Microbiol Lett</u> 59 (1990): 95-99.

- [74] R.L. Zuerner. Physical map of chromosomal and plasmid DNA comprising the genome of *Leptospira interrogans*. <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> 19 (1991): 4857-4860.
- [75] C. Boursaux-Eude, et al. Leptospira genomics. <u>Electrophoresis</u> 19 (1998): 589-592.
- [76] M. Fukunaga, I. Mifuchi. The number of large ribosomal RNA genes in *Leptospira interrogans* and *Leptospira biflexa*. <u>Microbiol Immunol</u> 33 (1989): 459-466.
- [77] S.B. Feresu, *et al.* Identification of a serogroup bataviae *Leptospira* strain
 isolated from an ox in Zimbabwe. <u>Zentralbl Bakteriol</u> 289 (1999): 19-29.
- [78] M. Picardeau, et al. Genome sequence of the saprophyte Leptospira biflexa provides insights into the evolution of Leptospira and the pathogenesis of leptospirosis. <u>PLoS One</u> 3 (2008): e1607.
- [79] B.J. Paster, *et al.* Phylogenetic analysis of the spirochetes. <u>J Bacteriol</u> 173 (1991): 6101-6109.
- [80] F.W. Hyde, R.C. Johnson. Genetic relationship of lyme disease spirochetes to Borrelia, Treponema, and Leptospira spp. <u>J Clin Microbiol</u> 20 (1984): 151-154.
- [81] W.J. Terpstra. Typing *Leptospira* from the perspective of a reference laboratory. <u>Acta Leiden</u> 60 (1992): 79-87.
- [82] P. Ramadass, et al. Genetic characterization of pathogenic *Leptospira* species by DNA hybridization. <u>Int J Syst Bacteriol</u> 42 (1992): 215-219.
- [83] D.J. Brenner, et al. Further determination of DNA relatedness between serogroups and serovars in the family Leptospiraceae with a proposal for *Leptospira alexanderi* sp. nov. and four new *Leptospira* genomospecies. Int J Syst Bacteriol 49 Pt 2 (1999): 839-858.
- [84] F. Sasaki, *et al.* Phylogenetic analysis of *Leptospira* strains of pathogenic serovars using 23S rDNA gene sequences. <u>Microbiol Res</u> 154 (1999): 167-172.

- [85] A.F. Victoriano, et al. Leptospirosis in the Asia Pacific region. <u>BMC Infect Dis</u> 9 (2009): 147.
- [86] K. Laras, *et al.* The importance of leptospirosis in Southeast Asia. <u>Am J Trop</u> <u>Med Hyg</u> 67 (2002): 278-286.
- [87] สำนักระบาดวิทยา. สรุปรายงานการเฝ้าระวังโรคเลปโตสไปโรซิส. <u>สำนักระบาดวิทยา,</u> <u>กระทรวงสาธารณสุข</u> (2553).
- [88] M. Viviani, et al. [Leptospirosis. Description of a clinical case and review of the literature]. <u>Minerva Anestesiol</u> 64 (1998): 465-469.
- [89] A.D. Alexander, *et al.* LEPTOSPIROSIS IN PUERTO RICO. <u>Zoonoses research</u> 26 (1963): 152-227.
- [90] C.P. Hudson, et al. Severe primary HIV-1 infection among black persons in Barbados.<u>Int J STD AIDS</u> 8 (1997): 393-397.
- [91] A.I. Ko, *et al.* Urban epidemic of severe leptospirosis in Brazil. <u>Lancet</u> 354 (1999): 820-825.
- [92] P.N. Levett, et al. Two methods for rapid serological diagnosis of acute leptospirosis. <u>Clin Diagn Lab Immunol</u> 8 (2001): 349-351.
- [93] E.J. Sanders, *et al.* Increase of leptospirosis in dengue-negative patients after a Hurricane in Puerto Rico in 1966. <u>Am J Trop Med Hyg</u> 61 (1999): 399-404.
- [94] C.W. Heath Jr, et al. Leptospirosis in the United States. Analysis of 483 cases in man, 1949, 1961. <u>N Engl J Med</u> 273 (1965): 915-922 concl.
- [95] R.C.R.M. Abdulkader. Acute renal failure in leptospirosis. <u>Renal Failure</u> 19 (1997): 191-198.
- [96] C.N. Edwards, et al. Leptospirosis in Barbados. A clinical study. <u>West Indian</u> <u>Medical Journal</u> 39 (1990): 27-34.
- [97] S. Ramachandran, *et al.* Patterns of acute renal failure in leptospirosis. <u>J Trop</u>
 <u>Med Hyg</u> 79 (1976): 158-160.

- [98] C.G. Winearls, *et al.* Acute renal failure due to leptospirosis: Clinical features and outcome in six cases. <u>Q J Med</u> 53 (1984): 487-495.
- [99] M. Salavert, et al. [Weil's disease with pulmonary, visceral and cutaneous manifestations]. <u>Med Clin (Barc)</u> 96 (1991): 518.
- [100] A. Papa, *et al.* Pulmonary involvement and leptospirosis, Greece. <u>Emerg Infect</u> <u>Dis</u> 15 (2009): 834-835.
- [101] E. Budiono, *et al.* Pulmonary involvement predicts mortality in severe leptospirosis patients. <u>Acta Med Indones</u> 41 (2009): 11-14.
- [102] M.K. Hill, C.V. Sanders. Leptospiral pneumonia. <u>Semin Respir Infect</u> 12 (1997): 44-49.
- [103] B. Dursun, *et al.* Severe pulmonary haemorrhage accompanying hepatorenal failure in fulminant leptospirosis. <u>Int J Clin Pract</u> 61 (2007): 164-167.
- [104] F.S. Alani, *et al.* Leptospirosis presenting as atypical pneumonia, respiratory failure and pyogenic meningitis. <u>J Infect</u> 27 (1993): 281-283.
- [105] P. Allen, et al. Massive pulmonary haemorrhage due to leptospirosis. <u>Intensive</u> <u>Care Med</u> 15 (1989): 322-324.
- [106] H.H. Berendsen, *et al.* Adult respiratory failure with leptospirosis. <u>Ann Intern Med</u> 101 (1984): 402.
- [107] B.J. Burke, *et al.* Leptospirosis presenting with profuse haemoptysis. <u>Br Med J</u> 2 (1976): 982.
- [108] H.D. Chee, et al. Adult respiratory distress syndrome in Leptospira icterohaemorrhagiae infection. <u>Intensive Care Med</u> 11 (1985): 254-256.
- [109] J. de Koning, *et al.* Respiratory failure in leptospirosis (Weil's disease). <u>Neth J</u>
 <u>Med</u> 47 (1995): 224-229.
- [110] A.M. Dive, *et al.* Adult respiratory distress syndrome in *Leptospira icterohaemorrhagiae* infection. <u>Intensive Care Med</u> 13 (1987): 214.
- [111] C. Lin, *et al.* Studies on Anicteric Leptospirosis. Ii. Observations on Electrocardiograms. <u>Chin Med J (Engl)</u> 84 (1965): 291-298.

- [112] M.G. Lee, *et al.* Cardiac involvement in severe leptospirosis. <u>West Indian Med J</u> 35 (1986): 295-300.
- [113] M.G. Martins, *et al.* Ocular manifestations in the acute phase of leptospirosis.
 <u>Ocul Immunol Inflamm</u> 6 (1998): 75-79.
- [114] S. Barkay, H. Garzozi. Leptospirosis and uveitis. <u>Ann Ophthalmol</u> 16 (1984): 164-168.
- [115] J.M. Michot, et al. [Leptospirosis: an unusual etiology of anterior uveitis]. <u>Rev</u> <u>Med Interne</u> 28 (2007): 566-567.
- [116] P. Vijayachari, et al. Evaluation of darkground microscopy as a rapid diagnostic procedure in leptospirosis. <u>Indian J Med Res</u> 114 (2001): 54-58.
- [117] L.H. Turner. Leptospirosis. 3. Maintenance, isolation and demonstration of leptospires. <u>Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg</u> 64 (1970): 623-646.
- [118] P.N. Levett. Usefulness of serologic analysis as a predictor of the infecting serovar in patients with severe leptospirosis. <u>Clin Infect Dis</u> 36 (2003): 447-452.
- [119] A.E. Bal, et al. Detection of leptospires in urine by PCR for early diagnosis of leptospirosis. <u>J Clin Microbiol</u> 32 (1994): 1894-1898.
- [120] L.D. Smythe, et al. A quantitative PCR (TaqMan) assay for pathogenic Leptospira spp. <u>BMC Infect Dis</u> 2 (2002): 13.
- [121] P.N. Levett, et al. Detection of pathogenic leptospires by real-time quantitative PCR. <u>J Med Microbiol</u> 54 (2005): 45-49.
- [122] P. Renesto, et al. rpoB gene analysis as a novel strategy for identification of spirochetes from the genera Borrelia, Treponema, and Leptospira. J Clin <u>Microbiol</u> 38 (2000): 2200-2203.
- [123] J.V. Hookey. Detection of Leptospiraceae by amplification of 16S ribosomal DNA. <u>FEMS Microbiol Lett</u> 69 (1992): 267-274.
- [124] F. Merien, et al. Polymerase chain reaction for detection of *Leptospira* spp. in clinical samples. <u>J Clin Microbiol</u> 30 (1992): 2219-2224.

- [125] R. Murgia, *et al.* Oligonucleotides specific for pathogenic and saprophytic *Leptospira* occurring in water. <u>FEMS Microbiol Lett</u> 148 (1997): 27-34.
- [126] J.A. Wagenaar, et al. Rapid and specific detection of pathogenic Leptospira species by amplification of ribosomal sequences. <u>Mol Biotechnol</u> 2 (1994): 1-14.
- [127] T.H. Woo, et al. Identification of pathogenic Leptospira by TaqMan probe in a LightCycler. <u>Anal Biochem</u> 256 (1998): 132-134.
- [128] M.L. Pacciarini, *et al.* The search for improved methods for diagnosing leptospirosis: the approach of a laboratory in Brescia, Italy. <u>Rev Sci Tech</u> 12 (1993): 647-663.
- [129] M.L. Savio, et al. Detection and identification of Leptospira interrogans serovars by PCR coupled with restriction endonuclease analysis of amplified DNA. <u>J Clin Microbiol</u> 32 (1994): 935-941.
- [130] M.J. Woodward, et al. Development of a PCR test specific for Leptospira hardjo genotype bovis. <u>Vet Rec</u> 128 (1991): 282-283.
- [131] R.L. Zuerner, et al. IS1533-based PCR assay for identification of *Leptospira* interrogans sensu lato serovars. <u>J Clin Microbiol</u> 33 (1995): 3284-3289.
- [132] R.L. Zuerner, C.A. Bolin. Differentiation of *Leptospira interrogans* isolates by IS1500 hybridization and PCR assays. <u>J Clin Microbiol</u> 35 (1997): 2612-2617.
- [133] L.H. Turner. Leptospirosis. II. Serology. <u>Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg</u> 62 (1968): 880-899.
- [134] J.R. Cole, Jr., et al. Improved microtechnique for the leptospiral microscopic agglutination test. <u>Appl Microbiol</u> 25 (1973): 976-980.
- [135] M.M. Galton, et al. Application of a Microtechnique to the Agglutination Test for Leptospiral Antibodies. <u>Appl Microbiol</u> 13 (1965): 81-85.
- [136] C.R. Sulzer, W.L. Jones. A modified semi-micro method for the test for leptospirosis. <u>Health Lab Sci</u> 10 (1973): 13-17.

- [137] C. Cominazzini. [Laboratory diagnosis of leptospirosis; practical notes and critical study]. <u>Minerva Med</u> 45 (1954): 340-347.
- [138] B. Adler, et al. Detection of specific anti-leptospiral immunoglobulins M and G in human serum by solid-phase enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. J <u>Clin Microbiol</u> 11 (1980): 452-457.
- [139] M. Mailloux, et al. Application of an immuno-enzyme technique to titration of antibodies in leptospirosis: ELISA (enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay). <u>Zentralbl Bakteriol Mikrobiol Hyg A</u> 257 (1984): 511-513.
- [140] W.J. Terpstra, et al. ELISA for the detection of specific IgM and IgG in human leptospirosis. <u>J Gen Microbiol</u> 131 (1985): 377-385.
- [141] O. Surujballi, C. Elmgren. Monoclonal antibodies suitable for incorporation into a competitive enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) for detection of specific antibodies to *Leptospira interrogans* serovar pomona. <u>Vet</u> <u>Microbiol</u> 71 (2000): 149-159.
- [142] R. Sharma, et al. Application of rapid dot-ELISA for antibody detection of leptospirosis. <u>J Med Microbiol</u> 56 (2007): 873-874.
- [143] G. Vitale, et al. Evaluation of an IgM-ELISA test for the diagnosis of human leptospirosis. <u>New Microbiol</u> 27 (2004): 149-154.
- [144] M.M. Galton, et al. A rapid macroscopicslide screening test for the serodiagnosis of leptospirosis. <u>Am J Vet Res</u> 19 (1958): 505-512.
- [145] N. Andreescu. A new prepatory method of thermically inactivated *Leptospira* Patoc antigen for rapid slide agglutination used as serosurvey test for human leptospiroses. <u>Arch Roum Pathol Exp Microbiol</u> 49 (1990): 223-227.
- [146] W. Lilenbaum, *et al.* Evaluation of a rapid slide agglutination test for the diagnosis of acute canine leptospirosis. <u>Rev Latinoam Microbiol</u> 44 (2002): 124-128.
- [147] T. Senthilkumar, *et al.* Rapid serodiagnosis of leptospirosis by latex agglutination test and flow-through assay. <u>Indian J Med Microbiol</u> 26 (2008): 45-49.

- [148] S. Dey, et al. Recombinant antigen-based latex agglutination test for rapid serodiagnosis of leptospirosis. <u>Vet Res Commun</u> 31 (2007): 9-15.
- [149] C. Hull-Jackson, et al. Evaluation of a commercial latex agglutination assay for serological diagnosis of leptospirosis. <u>J Clin Microbiol</u> 44 (2006): 1853-1855.
- [150] S. Pradutkanchana, J. Nakarin. The use of latex agglutination for the diagnosis of acute human leptospirosis. <u>J Med Assoc Thai</u> 88 (2005): 1395-1400.
- [151] S. Dey, et al. Recombinant antigen-based dipstick ELISA for the diagnosis of leptospirosis in dogs. <u>Vet Rec</u> 160 (2007): 186-188.
- [152] D. Boonyod, et al. LipL32, an outer membrane protein of Leptospira, as an antigen in a dipstick assay for diagnosis of leptospirosis. <u>Asian Pac J</u> <u>Allergy Immunol</u> 23 (2005): 133-141.
- [153] H.L. Smits, et al. International multicenter evaluation of the clinical utility of a dipstick assay for detection of *Leptospira*-specific immunoglobulin M antibodies in human serum specimens. <u>J Clin Microbiol</u> 37 (1999): 2904-2909.
- [154] H. Appassakij, et al. Evaluation of the immunofluorescent antibody test for the diagnosis of human leptospirosis. <u>Am J Trop Med Hyg</u> 52 (1995): 340-343.
- [155] M. Torten, et al. The use of immunofluorescence in the diagnosis of human leptospirosis by a genus-specific antigen. <u>J Infect Dis</u> 116 (1966): 537-543.
- [156] M.J. Kuehn, N.C. Kesty. Bacterial outer membrane vesicles and the hostpathogen interaction. <u>Genes Dev</u> 19 (2005): 2645-2655.
- [157] S. Boullier, et al. New flow cytometric method to quantify the inhibition of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli adhesion by anti-adhesin antibodies. <u>Cytometry A</u> 53 (2003): 79-87.

- [158] L. Li, et al. Comparison of invasion of fibroblasts and macrophages by high- and low-virulence Leptospira strains: colonization of the host-cell nucleus and induction of necrosis by the virulent strain. <u>Arch Microbiol</u> 188 (2007): 591-598.
- [159] A.L.T.O. Nascimento, et al. Comparative Genomics of Two Leptospira interrogans Serovars Reveals Novel Insights into Physiology and Pathogenesis. J Bacteriol 186 (2004): 2164-2172.
- [160] F. Merien, et al. Identification of a 36-kDa fibronectin-binding protein expressed by a virulent variant of *Leptospira interrogans* serovar icterohaemorrhagiae. <u>FEMS Microbiology Letters</u> 185 (2000): 17-22.
- [161] B. Levine, G. Kroemer. Autophagy in the pathogenesis of disease. <u>Cell</u> 132 (2008): 27-42.
- [162] C. De Duve, R. Wattiaux. Functions of lysosomes. <u>Annu Rev Physiol</u> 28 (1966):435-492.
- [163] Y. Kamada, et al. Tor-mediated induction of autophagy via an Apg1 protein kinase complex. <u>J Cell Biol</u> 150 (2000): 1507-1513.
- [164] M.G. Gutierrez, *et al.* Autophagy is a defense mechanism inhibiting BCG and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* survival in infected macrophages. <u>Cell</u> 119 (2004): 753-766.
- [165] S. Walker, et al. Making autophagosomes: localized synthesis of phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphate holds the clue. <u>Autophagy</u> 4 (2008): 1093-1096.
- [166] I. Mitroulis, *et al.* Regulation of the autophagic machinery in human neutrophils.
 <u>Eur J Immunol</u> 40 (2010): 1461-1472.
- [167] A. Petiot, et al. Distinct classes of phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinases are involved in signaling pathways that control macroautophagy in HT-29 cells. <u>J Biol</u> <u>Chem</u> 275 (2000): 992-998.

- [168] A. Yamamoto, *et al.* Bafilomycin A1 prevents maturation of autophagic vacuoles by inhibiting fusion between autophagosomes and lysosomes in rat hepatoma cell line, H-4-II-E cells. <u>Cell Struct Funct</u>23 (1998): 33-42.
- [169] Y. Kabeya, et al. LC3, a mammalian homologue of yeast Apg8p, is localized in autophagosome membranes after processing. <u>EMBO J</u> 19 (2000): 5720-5728.
- [170] I. Tanida, *et al.* GATE-16 and GABARAP are authentic modifiers mediated by Apg7 and Apg3. <u>Biochem Biophys Res Commun</u> 300 (2003): 637-644.
- [171] S.S. Mann, J.A. Hammarback. Molecular characterization of light chain 3. A microtubule binding subunit of MAP1A and MAP1B. <u>J Biol Chem</u> 269 (1994): 11492-11497.
- [172] J. Hemelaar, et al. A single protease, Apg4B, is specific for the autophagyrelated ubiquitin-like proteins GATE-16, MAP1-LC3, GABARAP, and Apg8L. J Biol Chem 278 (2003): 51841-51850.
- [173] Y. Ichimura, *et al.* A ubiquitin-like system mediates protein lipidation. <u>Nature</u> 408 (2000): 488-492.
- [174] I. Tanida, et al. Human light chain 3/MAP1LC3B is cleaved at its carboxylterminal Met121 to expose Gly120 for lipidation and targeting to autophagosomal membranes. <u>J Biol Chem</u> 279 (2004): 47704-47710.
- [175] N. Mizushima, *et al.* Dissection of autophagosome formation using Apg5deficient mouse embryonic stem cells. <u>J Cell Biol</u> 152 (2001): 657-668.
- [176] N. Mizushima, *et al.* Autophagosome formation in mammalian cells. <u>Cell Struct</u>
 <u>Funct</u> 27 (2002): 421-429.
- [177] K. Kirkegaard, et al. Cellular autophagy: surrender, avoidance and subversion by microorganisms. <u>Nat Rev Microbiol</u> 2 (2004): 301-314.
- [178] B. Levine. Eating oneself and uninvited guests: autophagy-related pathways in cellular defense. <u>Cell</u> 120 (2005): 159-162.
- [179] J.P. Gorvel, C. de Chastellier. Bacteria spurned by self-absorbed cells. <u>Nat Med</u> 11 (2005): 18-19.

- [180] K.A. Rich, et al. Cytoplasmic bacteria can be targets for autophagy. <u>Cell</u> <u>Microbiol</u> 5 (2003): 455-468.
- [181] M. Ogawa, et al. Escape of intracellular Shigella from autophagy. <u>Science</u> 307 (2005): 727-731.
- [182] M.G. Gutierrez, et al. Autophagy is a defense mechanism inhibiting BCG and Mycobacterium tuberculosis survival in infected macrophages. <u>Cell</u> 119 (2004): 753-766.
- [183] A.O. Amer, M.S. Swanson. Autophagy is an immediate macrophage response to *Legionella pneumophila*. <u>Cell Microbiol</u> 7 (2005): 765-778.
- [184] M.G. Gutierrez, et al. Autophagy induction favours the generation and maturation of the Coxiella-replicative vacuoles. <u>Cell Microbiol</u> 7 (2005): 981-993.
- [185] A.S. Alva, et al. Autophagy in human tumors: Cell survival or death? [1]. <u>Cell</u> <u>Death Differ</u> 11 (2004): 1046-1048.
- [186] D. Gozuacik, A. Kimchi. Autophagy as a cell death and tumor suppressor mechanism. <u>Oncogene</u> 23 (2004): 2891-2906.
- [187] Y. Kabeya, et al. LC3, a mammalian homologue of yeast Apg8p, is localized in autophagosome membranes after processing. <u>EMBO Journal</u> 19 (2000): 5720-5728.
- [188] V. Deretic. Autophagy as an immune defense mechanism. <u>Curr Opin Immunol</u> 18 (2006): 375-382.
- [189] I. Nakagawa, et al. Autophagy defends cells against invading group A Streptococcus. <u>Science</u> 306 (2004): 1037-1040.
- [190] A.D. Joshi, et al. Evidence that Dot-dependent and -independent factors isolate the Legionella pneumophila phagosome from the endocytic network in mouse macrophages. <u>Cell Microbiol</u> 3 (2001): 99-114.
- [191] P. Webster. Cytoplasmic bacteria and the autophagic pathway. <u>Autophagy</u> 2 (2006): 159-161.

- [192] K. Kirkegaard, et al. Cellular autophagy: Surrender, avoidance and subversion by microorganisms. <u>Nat Rev Microbiol</u> 2 (2004): 301-314.
- [193] C.M. Rosenberger, B.B. Finlay. Phagocyte sabotage: Disruption of macrophage signalling by bacterial pathogens. <u>Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol</u> 4 (2003): 385-396.
- [194] L. Li, et al. Comparison of invasion of fibroblasts and macrophages by high- and low-virulence *Leptospira* strains: Colonization of the host-cell nucleus and induction of necrosis by the virulent strain. <u>Arch Microbiol</u> 188 (2007): 591-598.
- [195] R.U.M. Palaniappan, et al. Leptospirosis: Pathogenesis, immunity, and diagnosis. <u>Curr Opin Infect Dis</u> 20 (2007): 284-292.
- [196] A.O. Amer, M.S. Swanson. A phagosome of one's own: A microbial guide to life in the macrophage. <u>Curr Opin Microbiol</u> 5 (2002): 56-61.
- [197] I. Golovliov, et al. An attenuated strain of the facultative intracellular bacterium Francisella tularensis can escape the phagosome of monocytic cells. <u>Infect Immun</u> 71 (2003): 5940-5950.
- [198] W. Goebel, M. Kuhn. Bacterial replication in the host cell cytosol. <u>Curr Opin</u> <u>Microbiol</u> 3 (2000): 49-53.
- [199] Y. Xu, et al. Toll-like Receptor 4 Is a Sensor for Autophagy Associated with Innate Immunity. <u>Immunity</u> 27 (2007): 135-144.
- [200] M.A. Sanjuan, *et al.* Toll-like receptor signalling in macrophages links the autophagy pathway to phagocytosis. <u>Nature</u> 450 (2007): 1253-1257.
- [201] M.A. Delgado, *et al.* Toll-like receptors control autophagy. <u>EMBO Journal</u> 27 (2008): 1110-1121.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A BUFFER AND REAGENTS

Reagent for EMJH media

1. Albumin fatty acid supplement	t stock sol	ution	
CaCl ₂ + MgCl ₂ .6 H ₂ O	0.076	g	Store at -20 °C
ZnSO ₄ .7H ₂ O	0.04	g	Store at -20 °C
CuSO ₄ . 5H ₂ O	0.03	g	Store at 4 °C
Vit B12	0.002	g	Store at -20 °C
Tween 80	1	g	Store at -20 °C
Glycerol	1	g	Store at -20 °C

Dissolve each reagent separately in 10 ml of distilled water.

2. Albumin fatty acid supplement solution, ready to use (50ml)

BSA	5	g
CaCl ₂ + MgCl ₂ .6 H ₂ O	750	μl
ZnSO4.7H2O	500	μΙ
CuSO ₄ . 5H2O	50	μΙ
Vit B12	500	μl
Tween 80	6.25	ml
Glycerol	500	μΙ
FeSO ₄	0.025	g
Sodium pyruvate	0.02	g

Dissolve in distilled water and adjust pH 7.4-7.6 with HCl(conc.). Adjust volume with distilled water to make 50 ml. Sterilize the solution by filtration. Store at -20 °C.

3. Basal Media

Bacto Leptospira Media Base EMJH dehydrated 0.23 g

Dissolve in distilled water and adjust volume with distilled water to make 90 ml. Sterilize the solution by autoclaving at 121 °C for 15 minute. 4. EMJH media

Basal media	90	ml
Albumin fatty acid supplement	10	ml
solution		
Mix the solution and store at 4 °C.		

Reagent for SDS- Polyacrylamide Gel Ectrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)

1. 1 M Tris-HCl pH 8.8 Tris base 12.11

Dissolve in distilled water and adjust pH to 8.8 with HCl (conc). Adjust volume with distilled water to make 100 ml. Sterilize the solution by autoclaving at 121 °C for 15

g

g

minute.

2.	0.5 M Tris-HCl pH 6.8	
Tris	base	6.055

Dissolve in distilled water and adjust pH to 8.8 with HCl (conc). Adjust volume with distilled water to make 100 ml. Sterilize the solution by autoclaving at 121 °C for 15 minute.

3. 2X Laemmli buffer (SDS-dye) 10 ml

1M Tris-HCI pH 6.8	1	ml(final concentration 100 mM)
10% SDS	4	ml(4%v/v)
99.5% glycerol	2.01	ml (20% v/v)
HPLC water	2.989	ml
Bromphenol blue	0.001	g
Mix the reagent vigorously, and stor	e at -20 °0	С.
4. 4X Tris HCI/SDS pH 8.8 (100 m	nl)	

This base	18.21	g
SDS	0.4	g

Dissolve in distilled water and adjust pH to 8.8 with HCl (conc). Stored at 4 °C.

5. Running buffer

This base	15.1	g
Glycine	72	g
SDS	5.0	g

Dissolve in distilled water and adjust volume to 10 ml. Store at room temperature.

6.	6X sample buffer with DTT		
4X 1	ris-HCI pH 8.8	7	ml
Glyc	cerol	3	ml
SDS	5	1	g
DTT		0.93	g
Bror	mphenol Blue	1.2	mg

Dissolve in distilled water and adjust volume to 10 ml. Store at room temperature.

7.	10% Ammonium Persulfate (APS	S)	
APS		1	g
Distille	ed water	10	ml
Mix the	solution and store at -20 °C		
8.	10% Sodium laury sacosine (SD	DS)	
Sodiur	n laury sacosine (SDS)	1	g
Distille	ed water	10	ml
Mix the solution and store at -20 °C.			
9.	30% Acrymide/0.8 % Bisacrylar	nide	
Acryla	mide	30	g
Bis-ac	rylamide	0.8	g

Dissolve in distilled water and adjust volume to 10 ml. Sterilize the solution by filtration. Store in dark at room temperature.

10. 12% SDS-PAGE

Separating gel (15ml)

Distilled water	4	ml
1.5 M Tris-Hcl pH 8.8	3.75	ml
40% Acrylamide and Bis-acrylamide	6	ml
solution		
10% SDS	0.15	ml
10% APS	75	μΙ
TEMED	7.5	μΙ
Stacking gel		
Distilled water	2.7	ml
1.5 M Tris-HCl pH 6.8	0.5	ml
40% Acrylamide and	0.67	ml
Bis-acrylamide solution		
10% SDS	40	μl
10% APS	40	μΙ
TEMED	4.0	μl

Reagent for Western blot

1. TBS		
1 M Tris base pH 7.5	20	ml
NaCl	29.22	g

Dissolve in distilled water and adjust volume to 1,000 ml. Sterilize the solution by autoclaving at 121 $^{\rm o}{\rm C}$ for 15 minute.

2.	TBS-0.1% (v/v) Tween		
TBS		500	ml
Twee	n-20	500	μl

Mix the solution and store at room temperature.

3. Blotting buffer

Tris base	2.42	g
Glycine	11.24	g
Distilled water	800	ml

Dissolve in distilled water and add 200 ml methanol. Store at room temperature.

4.	Blocking solution		
PBST		200	ml
Non-fa	at dry milk	3	%
Mix the	e solution and store at 4 C°.		
5.	5X Running buffer		
This-b	base	15.2	g
Glycir	ne	94	g
SDS		5	g
Deion	ized water	1000	ml
Mix the solution and store at room temperature.			
6.	Transfer buffer for Western blot		
This-b	base	5.08	g
Glycir	ne	2.9	g
SDS		0.37	g
Deion	ized water	800	ml
Absol	ute methanol	200	ml

7. ECL substrate of HRP

Coumaric acid (90 mM) was diddolved in DMSO in total volume 10 ml. Then, the solution aliquots were keep at -20 °C.

Luminol (250mM) was diddolved in DMSO in total volume 10 ml. Then, the solution aliquots were keep at -20 $^{\circ}$ C.

Solution A 100 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.5 4 ml (stored at 4 °C)

90 mM coumaric acid	17.6	μl
250 mM luminal	40	μΙ
Solution B		
100 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.5	4	ml
(stored at 4 °C)		
30% H ₂ O ₂	2.4	ml

Reagent for cell culture

1.	Complete RPMI 1640 100 ml		
RPMI	1640	90	%
FBS		10	%
Penic	illin	100	U/ml
Strept	comycin	0.4	mg/ml
Sodiu	m pyruvate	1	%
HEPE	S	1	%
2.	Complete DMEM 100 ml		
DMEN	Л	90	%
FBS		10	%
Penic	illin	100	U/ml
Strept	comycin	0.4	mg/ml
Sodiu	m pyruvate	1	%
HEPE	S	1	%
3.	Freezing media 10 ml		
Comp	lete media	90	%
DMSC)	10	%

4. FBS inactivatation

Before using FBS, FBS must be inactivated at 56 $^{\rm o}{\rm C}$ for 30 minutes using water bath.

5	RIPA buffer for r	nrotein	extraction	10 ml
э.	RIPA Duller for p	protein	extraction	10 mi

50mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4	1	ml
150 mM NaCl	1.5	ml
1.0% NP-40	100	μΙ
0.5% C ₂₄ H ₃₉ O ₄ Na	1	ml
0.1% SDS	100	μl

Adjusted volume to 10 ml using deionized water.

6.	1XPBS pH 7.4		
NaCl		8	g
KCI		0.2	g
Na ₂ H	IPO ₄	1.44	g
KH ₂ F	PO ₄	0.24	g
Deior	nized water	1000	m

autoclaved at 121°C and pressure 15 psi for 15 min.

BIOGRAPHY

NAME :	Miss Chattip Sripatumtong
DATE OF BIRTH :	11 November 1986
PLACE OF BIRTH :	In Bangkok, Thailand
INSTITUTION ATTENDED :	I graduated with the Bachelor degree of
	Science in Microbiology from the Faculty
	of Science, Burapha University in 2009.
PRESENTATION :	The autophagy induction in Leptospira
	interrogans-infected macrophage. Poster
	presentation in The Eighth Asian Congress
	for Microcirculation (ACM-2011) Bangkok
	Convention Center, Centara Grand,
	Bangkok, Thailand,
	26-28 October 2011.
PUBLICATION :	The autophagy induction in Leptospira
	interrogans-infected macrophage. Poster
	presentation in The Eighth Asian Congress
	for Microcirculation (ACM-2011) Bangkok
	Convention Center, Centara Grand,
	Bangkok, Thailand, October 2011: 45-48.